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Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Net soles $ 2319 52899 $2729  $2927  $3372
Operating income 12.6 314 Kop:! 277 351
Operating income from continuing operations,

excluding unusual items 18.9 31.6 304 309 351
Income from confinuing operations 8.1 19.] 18.1 153 18.9
Discontinued operations (0.1) (36.0) 0.5 0.5 49
Net income {loss) 8.0 {16.9) 18.6 15.8 23.8
Diluted earnings {loss) per share:

Continuing operations 0.53 1.24 1.18 0.98 1.22

Disconfinued operations {o.o1) (2.34) 0.03 0.03 0.32

Net income {loss) 0.52 (1.10) 1.21 1.01 1.54

Net income from continuing operations,

excluding unusual items 0.79 1.25 1.18 1 1.22

Book value per diluted share 8.04 7.64 8.74 742 6.38
Operating cash flow $ 233 |$ 215 $ 310 $ 374 $ 146
Capital expenditures 39.0 20.1 311 1.5 1.6
Working capital 37.6 22.0 184 297 23.7
Total debt - 200 270 270 476
Stockholders’ equity 124.4 175 134.0 115.4 98.7
Return on siockholders’ equity from confinuing operations,

excluding unusual items 10.0% 153% 14.5% 16.1% 21.9%

ABOUT T HE C OV ER

A centaur is a mythical creature with the head
and torso of a man joined to the body of a horse.
With its origins in Greek mythology, the centaur
is one of the most enduring mythological creations,
persisting through art and literature in the
Middle Ages and enjoying a rebirth with the

twentieth century explosion in the genre of fantasy.

The centaur has endured as the trademark of
Chase Brass & Copper Co. since its introduction
on October 6, 1928, in a double page advertisement
in the Saturday Evening Post and has endured
through depressions, wars and times of prosperity.
Today it symbolizes our rich history and strength

to meet the challenges of the future.

Diluted Earnings per Share
Continuing Operations
{excluding unusual items)

{dollars per share)

1.22 1.1 1.18 1.25 0.79

Book Value per
Diluted Share

{dollars per share}

6.38 7.42 8.74 7.64 8.04
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Dear Shareholders:

Along with our nation and the manufacturing sector of the economy, Chase Industries dealt with unprecedented
challenges in 2001. In addition to confronting a dramatic decline in demand, we sold Leavitt Tube Company,
faced an unsolicited tender offer and experienced management changes as our Chairman of 11 years refired.
I am extremely proud of the way that the team at Chase tackled each of these events. Looking ahead, | am

confident that we are exiremely well posifioned to embrace whatever challenges lie in front of us.
Chailenges Faced, Challenges Met

The sale of Leavitt Tube Company in March of this year provided cash to further strengthen an already strong
balance sheet and allowed management to devote ifs attention to increasing Chase Brass and Copper
Company’s industry-leadership position. The sale of leavitt was completed on March 30, and we received
$31.7 million in cash, plus tax benefits.

Also in the first quarter, the litigation brought by British Petroleum was resolved with a payment by

Chase Industries of $2 million. The seftlement discharged all of Chase's obligations pertaining to a $20 million

note plus $8.6 million of accrued interest owed to BP and Chase’s claims against BP, with BP retaining financial S
responsibilities for certain potential environmental liabilities. Positive cash flow from operations, the BP setlement :
and the cash from the sale of Leavitt enabled the Company to end the year with no debt and $18 million

in cash and shortterm investments.

As 20071 began, Court Square Capital, ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of Citicorp Venture Capital, launched

a tender offer in an effort to gain majority control and ultimately to take Chase private. This precipitated the
formation of a special subcommittee of the Board of Directors to evaluate strategic alternatives to maximize
shareholder value. Court Square's tender expired on January 31, 2001, and the subcommittee was subsequenily
disbanded. Over the course of the year, the Company spent $4.4 million for financial and legal advice in

support of these efforts.
Strategic Focus Affirmed

On September 1, 2001, Martin Alonzo, my predecessor as President and Chief Executive Officer, refired from
Chase's day-o-day management. Since 1990, Martin led the Company’s impressive growth. We are fortunate

fo continue to have the benefit of his experience and counsel as a member of the Board of Directors.

[ am privileged to have taken the reins of Chase Industries just as the Company refocuses on its core brass
business. Chase Brass is the industry leader in brass rod, and our mission going forward is to increase that
industry-leadership position. We will achieve this goal by providing our customers with superior satisfaction

and by excelling in manufacturing.
Project 400 Key to Industry Leadership

Project 400, which is rapidly nearing completion, is o cornerstone of both tactics. We manufacture every order
from each of over 250 customers to meet their exact specifications. In addition fo providing capacity to support
the growth in demand for brass rod, Project 400 was conceived fo surpass the expectations of our customers.
Each of Project 400's three phases addressed a specific objective. Phase |, completed in 1998 ot a cost of $12

million, installed new billet heaters, eliminating o bottleneck and improving product quality. Phase I, completed in




2000 at a cost of $30 million,
added a second foundry which
provided the capability to produce
other related alloys and eliminate
billet purchases. Phase Ill, to be
completed this year at a cost of $50
million, is the final phase and includes
a new exirusion press, finishing lines

and infrastructure.

Chase Blue Dot® rod is widely
recognized as the highest and most
consistent quality rod in the markefplace.
Many of our customers have been
installing automated handling equipment
and higher speed machines,

both of which reguire raw material
with increasingly exacting tolerances.
Customers are also requesting
unblemished surface quality to
reduce machining. The equipment in
Phase Il has been engineered to safisfy

the most demanding specifications.

Justintime manufacturing has become
the norm and inventory is being
minimized throughout the supply
chain. Internally, we reduced our
inventory by $11.6 million, or about
one third, therein achieving our yearend
target. Externally, our challenge is to
provide our customers with a custom-
manufactured product within the shortest
possible lead time and to deliver
when promised. We met this goal

in 2001 as our "ontime shipping”
performance was in excess of 99%.
Phase Il has been engineered to
increase manufacturing flexibility and
provide some important redundancies
with the goal of maintaining lead
times of one week or less on most
products, regardiess of economic
cycles, while attaining on-ime delivery

of over 99%.

Stockholders’ Equity/Debt

{in millions)

Lastly, Phase il has also been designed
to increase productivity in order to
maintain our position as the industry’s
low-cost producer. The new equipment
is capable of higher speeds and is

expected to increase vields in the plant.

Project 400 Reflects Culture of
Excellence

Phase ill is rapidly nearing complefion,
and we will meet our original schedule
with production beginning in the
second quarter of 2002. As | write
this letter, all of the equipment has
been tested, and we are well along
in the commissioning process. In fact,
material from both extrusion presses
has alrecdy been processed on

one of the new finishing lines and

shipped to customers.

The training of operating and
maintenance employees began in 2001
with several trips to Europe to work
with suppliers of the extrusion press
and finishing lines. Training will be a
major focus of activity throughout 2002
as we fine tune procedures and add

addiional shifts on the new equipment.

Project 400 is an important element
of our strategy to accomplish the
mission of widening our indusiry
leadership, but it represents only one
element of a company-wide culture
that embodies excellence. The next
few pages of this annual report highlight
a few of our recent successes in
providing superior customer safisfaction

and manufaciuring excellence.

STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY

TOTAL DEBT

Tough Economic Climate
Weathered

In November the government
acknowledged that the nation was
in a recession that began in March
2001, confirming the reality that
Chase Brass had been facing for
much longer. Growth in industrial
production fell into negative territory
in September 2000 and has
remained negative for a year and @
half. Year-onyear growth in the brass
rod industry fell into negative territory
two months prior 1o industrial production.
Historically, the brass industry has been
a leading indicator of manufacturing
activity, and we expect to be at the
forefront of the emerging recovery in
the manufacturing segment of the
economy. In the fourth quarter, the
rate of decline diminished and in the
first two months of 2002, Chase's
shipments were slightly above the
first two months of 2001. Hopefully,
this is a sign that demand for our
products will continue to improve
throughout 2002. Despite the lower
shipments in 2001, we remained the
industry leader and increased our
markef share by over two points.
We believe this growth, relative to
the industry, affirms our strategy of
unwavering attention to cusfomer
satisfaction, and manufacturing

excellence is already paying dividends.

Lower volume, cost pressures — especially

in utility costs and health care ~ and

pricing pressures in certain market




segments combined to reduce EBITDA,
excluding unusual items, by 32% to
$25.9 milion. Management worked
hard to control costs in the face of
declining volume, and, excluding the
impact of higher utility rates and
increased property taxes, unit production
costs were indeed equal to the prior
year. The increase in utility rates has
been reversed and when volume
rebounds, we will experience

significant operating leverage.

Several unusual items further
squeezed net income. As brass
prices fell to a 14year low, the
Company recorded a $1.8 million
lower-of-costor-market inventory
writedown. Costs triggered by the
tender offer were $4.4 million. The
Company remained profitable with
net earnings from continuing operations
of $.53 per share and $.79 excluding
unusual items. In 2001, Chase
generated $23 3 million of cash from
operafions, which together with the
Leavitt proceeds, was used fo fund
capital expenditures of $39.0 million,
including $32.1 for Project 400.

Outlook Holds Promise

We are experiencing a recovery in
demand for brass rod and anticipate
it will accelerate as the year unfolds.
Internally, Project 400 will be
completed on schedule and on
budget, and will be paid for with
current cash reserves. Aside from
Project 400, we anticipate the
business will generate cash in excess

of ongoing capital requirements.

Llooking beyond 2002, | remain
very positive about our future. Our
biggest end-use markef, plumbing

products, is driven by new consfruction

and remodeling of existing structures.
After analyzing the 2000 census
data, the National Association of
Home Builders has increased its
forecast of new housing starts over
the next decade fo an average of
1.84 million units per year compared
to the average of the last five years
of 1.58 million. New investments in
schools, public infrastructure, office
buildings and relail will create
additional demands for products
containing brass. The outlook is also
positive over the long term for the

Company's other end-use markefs.

in 2001, we all learned that the
business environment is never certain;
however, | am certain that the truly
outstanding people who make up

the fabric of our Company will

Mladc 1I1dUsSLIICS 1 0IC. 4aUVEL

enable Chase to continue to thrive,

I want to thank our customers for their
loyalty, our suppliers for their support,
our employees for their innovation and
dedication, and the members of our
Board of Directors for their leadership.
[ also want to thank you, our shareholders,

for your support.

Together we met the challenges of
2001, and together we will share the

successes that the future will bring.

S anm

lohn H. Steadman
President and Chief Executive Officer
March 7 2002
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Chase's legendary quality extends beyond its highly engineered, high quality Blue Dot® brass rod. It embodies the
Company’s goal to be superior in everything it does, including its commitment to deliver a Blue Dof® level of customer
satisfaction. At Chase, superior customer satistaction requires the efforts of the entire organization to not merely meet
customers’ needs, but to help each customer achieve his/her goals. Employees from every focet of the organization

add value by interfacing with the customer and becoming partners in developing solutions.
Superior On-Time Delivery Performance

One of the most recognized measures of customer satisfaction is delivering products when they are promised:
"ondime delivery." At Chase, onime delivery performance data are monitored overall and individually for each

customer. In 2001, this data showed total ontime delivery of 99.2%, even as lead times contracted throughout the

year. Feedback from customers, including over 30 with formal vendor measurement sysTené\s, corroborated this
infernal data. In November, Delia Faucet Company presented Chase with an award for exceeding its threshold
every month for 24 consecutive months.

One of the most

R

/

/é" ;écognized measures

%ﬂ of customer satisfaction

\7 f is delivering products

- —~when they are promised:
"on-time delivery." In
November, Delta Faucet
Company presented
Chase with an award for
exceeding its threshold
every month for 24

consecutive months.




Building
Products 45%\

Brass Rod End Use Markets

Exports 3%

Industrial Machinety
N & Equipment 24%

Transportation
Equipment 8% -

Electrical and Electronic
Products 11%

Consumer &

General 9%

Source: Copper Development Association

Adding Value through
inventory Management

Because Chase consistently delivers
its products on time, customers have
been able to reduce inventory levels,
free up floor space for manufacturing
and improve cash flow by decreasing
their investment in inventory. Teams
from Chase have worked with individual
customers fo help them achieve these

improvements in invenfory management.

For one customer, Chase provided
data on the most often ordered sizes
of brass rod, averoge order quantities,
and frequency of shipments. We
parinered with the customer to determine
minimum inventory levels and optimal
re-order quantities for both companies.
As a result, Chase won all of the
cusfomer’s brass rod business, nearly

fripling volume in the process.

Chase personnel participated in
several Kaizen events, where customers
and Chase personnel worked together
fo reduce cosfs through process
improvements. In November 2000,
Chase personnel parficipated in an
event at a customer’s plant fo review
the inventory management system
from forecasting through usage,

including material handling. After the

team'’s recommendations were
implemented in early 20071, the
customer was able to reduce raw
material inventory by over 40% and
free up valuable flocr space to add
additional manufecturing equipment.
The streamlined procedures have
simplified the order process and
improved invenfory management at
both companies. Similar solutions
were developed to help several other

customers reduce inventory.

On the West Coast, Chase maintains
an inventory of finished rod and in
some cases provides daily justintime
deliveries, enabling brass rod users in
Southern California to react to their
market demands without dedicating
their scarce resources to raw material

inventory.

Adding Value Through Product
and Process Development

Chase’s commitment to superior
customer satisfaction extends deeper
than meefing today's product and
service requirements. Chase confinuously
channels its technical resources to
develop innovative solutions to complex

customer needs.

vhase 1ndustries ftnc. 2001

Many users of brass rod specify

Blue Dot® because of its consistency
and properties that result in superior
machinablility. In 2001, Chase
expanded its family of alloys to
include forging brass and three alloys
designed for the most demanding
thread rolling requirements. This product
line expansion gives Chase additiondl
solufions to meet the needs of its
customer bos,e/ resulting in new
customers and increased penetiation
of existing customers.

Chase developed the capability to
utilize sophisticated data obtained
from scanning electron microscopes,
helping @ customer analyze the ade
offs between alloys, machinability
and postproduction parts cleaning
methods to best meet quality standards.
This greatly aided the customer’s
product and process development
efforts and provided Chase with valuable
information on the performance

characteristics of its new family of alloys.




Chase’s product and process
development addressed the needs

of other customers, as well. Chase
sales and technical teams worked with
a customer to eliminate the need for
a nonsstandard process in the production
of the rod, thereby reducing the
customer's cost and gaining additional
volume for Chase. A team from Chase,
comprised of people from sales,
production and the technical
depariments, spent three days af a
customer’s plant working as part of

a Kaizen team. The objective was to
evaluate both companies’ manufacturing
processes to lower costs through

waste reduction and increased

productivity. As a direct result of
this project, the customer was able

to realize savings approaching
$100,000 per year.

New Sales Team Structure
Strengthens Customer Relations

Superior customer satisfaction is the
mission of Chase's sales team. As
part of its continuing improvement
efforts, the inside sales staff was
revamped info a new team approach.
The new structure pairs an inside sales
representative with each regional
manager for full account responsibility,
giving each customer a consistent,
knowledgeable contact team. Since

this change was made, each inside

sales representative has visited some
accounts with the regional manager,
gaining important insights about the
customers and further strengthening

relationships.

Chase is committed to continue
expanding its industry leadership
by creating value for its customers
and delivering superior customer

satisfaction.

Many users of brass rod
specify Bilue Dot®
because of its consistency
and properties that
result in superior
machinability. In 2001,
Chase expanded its
family of alloys to
forging brass and three
alloys designed for the
most demanding thread

rolling requirements.
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Excellence in manufacturing has been a corerstone in Chase’s values since the plant in Montpelier, Ohio, was
conceived in the early 1960s. In some respects, the plant is the embodiment of that philosophy in that it was built
as a “scrap based mini-mill” years before the same concept revolutionized the steel indusiry. Today Chase’s
manufacturing operations, and the Company as a whole, remain focused on being the best manufocturer of

brass rod in the world.
History of Innovation

Since the opening of the Montpelier plant, Chase has led the way in @ number of innovations to enhance its
leadership position. In 1982, Chase was the first company to convert an extrusion press from direct fo indirect
extrusion. Over lime, the foundry was modified to produce five logs per cast and then six. Chase was the first brass
rod mill to become 1ISO Q002 certified and passed two compliance audits in 2001 without a single “nonconformance.”
The consistent commitment to sfrive for improvement is manifested in numerous formal and informal initiatives

throughout the operation, as well as in major capital invesiments such as the nearly completed Project 400.
Continuous Improvement

Through formal and informal programs, the employees of Chase sfrive to continuously improve the manufaciuring
operations and lower production costs. One of the major activities in 2001 was developing the operating
practices fo successfully produce new alloys. This encompassed operating know-how in casting and exiruding
these new alloys to provide the same Blue Dot® quality regardless of the alloy specifications. Manufacturing

success in this endeavor facilitated adding new customers and growing with exisfing customers.

Laser positioning technology plays a pivotal role in the automation that delivers heated

billets to the extrusion press. Automated material handling is 2a major reason that

Chase is the lowest cost producer of brass rod.




Among the many other programs
was an intense project to improve
the productivity of the finishing line
dedicated to the production of smafler
diameter rod. A crossfunctional work
team from operations, maintenance,
technical, management and finance
thoroughly analyzed every facet of
production, identifying bottlenecks,
deficiencies and opportunities for
improvement. The result was an

immediate 15% boost in productivity.

Employee innovations provide the
basis for continuous improvement
and manufacturing excellence at
Chase. During 2001, employees
developed methods to decrease
electrical costs, both peak load

power and fofal consumption. This
required the introduction of new
technology and operations know-how.
Ancther employee team is currently
implementing @ maintenance
management system to increase
equipment upfime, which will directly
impact Chase's customers through
improvements in lead times and ondime
delivery performance. Other employee
innovations are focused on remaining
the low cost producer through
increased productivity and improved
product quality. Chase employees
work directly with customers to make
product improvements and

constantly strive to take product
qudlity to the next level.

Sharing of Knowledge

Chase confinues to provide education
to its customers and the industry. In
one example, Chase held a twoday
seminar for a large group of engineers
and production employees of a
major customer. The event included
presentations by several department
managers and encompassed a
multimedia presentation, plant tour,
specifics of the technical aspects of
leaded brass rod including ASTM
specifications, and reascns behind
Blue Dot® rod’s superior performance.
The customer gained a deeper
understanding of the brass rod market

and the machining and thread rolling

characteristics of Chase Blue Dot® rod.

New drawing lines feature

automated bundling and

banding machines. These

high-efficiency machines

configure and band Blue

Dot® rod in "ready-to-ship"

bundles.




Safety Statistics

Based on recordable safety
statistics, Chase's commitment
to ongoing training and

the creation of a safe work
environment is having a

positive effect.
92 93

B incidents/hours worked

Project 400
Phase Il of Project 400, which will

become operational in the second
quarter of 2002, is the foundation to
further improve product quality and
lower manufacturing costs.

Two new finishing lines incorporare
the same surface analyzing technology
that exists on all the other finishing
lines to detect any surface defects,
and will also incorporate the latest

technology fo measure straightness.

94

95 9% 97 98

® Loss time

These new finishing lines will also
have the capability to wrap the
finished bundles with either paper
or plastic, thereby enabling Chase
to ship Blue Dof® rod worldwide.

One of the principle tactics that has

helped Chase build market share is

consistently meeting promised shipping
dates while maintaining short leaddimes.
Phcse IIl was engineered o enhance
these capabiliies by adding additional
flexibility to manufacturing. With two

New chamfer tables incorporated into the

finishing operation utilize

T~

brass-friendly, plastic and rubber contact surfaces. This optimizes the

appearance of Blue Dot® rod for our customers.

bl
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extrusion presses, routine preventative
maintenance can be more easily
scheduled and major maintenance
can be performed with minimal, if
any, disruption of supply to customers,
as both extrusion presses can supply
coil to all of the finishing lines. The two
new lines provide greater overlap of
size capabilities, further enhancing

flexibility.

The new capabilities will also help
lower manufacturing costs. The new
press is capable of producing coils that
are 60% larger than the current colls,
These larger coils will increase yield
and decrease change time as a
proportion of run time. The new finishing
lines will also run faster than the exising
lines. These new capabilities will help
Chase maintcin its position as the lowest

cost rod producer in the United States.
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{Unaudited, in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Income Statement Data:
Net sales $ 231,892 $ 289918 $ 272920 $ 292738 § 337158
Cost of goods sold [exclusive of depreciation
shown separately below) 199,568 244,476 225724 247705 288,876
Lower of costormarket inventory wiitedowns 1,840 - - 3174 -
Gross profit 30,484 45,442 47196 41,859 48,282
Selling, general and administrative expenses 6,400 7,159 10,625 8,398 8,139
Tender offer and other expenses 4,397 381 - - -
Depreciation 7,047 6,544 6,219 5759 4995
Operafing income 12,640 31,358 30,352 27702 35,148
Other nonoperating expenses 385 - .- - -
Interest {income) expense, net {343) 1,409 1136 3, 4,602
Income before income taxes 12,598 20049 20216 24,591 30,546
Provision for income taxes 4,472 10,872 11,103 0345 11,608
Income from continuing operations 8,126 19077 18,113 15,246 18,938
Discontinued operations:
Income (loss), net of taxes 79 (10) 502 514 4884
Loss on disposal, net of faxes {193) (36,000 - - -
Net income {loss) $ 8,012 $ {16933) $ 18,615 $ 15,760 $ 23822
Basic per Share Information:
Average shares outstanding 15,296 15,263 15,234 15,216 15141
Income from continuing operations $ 0.53 $ 1.25 $ 119 $ 1.01 $ 1.25
Income from discontinued operations - - 003 0.03 032
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations {0.01) (2.36) - - -
Net income (loss) $ 0.52 3 (1 $ 122 $ 104 $ 157
Diluted per Share information:
Average shares outstanding 15,467 15,377 15,336 15,561 15,483
Income from continuing operations $ 0.53 $ 1.24 $ 118 $ 098 % 1.22
income from discontinued operations - - 0.03 003 032
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations (0.01} (2.34] - - -
Net income {loss) $ 0.52 $ (110} $ 121 $ 101 $ 154
Balance Sheet Data (at year end):
Working capital $ 37,550 $ 21988 $ 18353 $ 29741 $ 230687
Total assets 174,288 197,203 024771 182,250 192,554
Total debt - 20,000 27000 27000 47578
Stockholders' equity 124,386 117494 134,046 115,420 98,713
Other Data:
Operating cash flow $ 23,303 $ 21547 $ 31009 $ 37423 $ 14637
Capital expenditures 39,032 20,066 31,078 11,516 11,611
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Operating Income
Continuing Operations

(excluding unusual items) .
(dollars in millions) d Operating Results

Finamnmeial Condition

351 309 304 316 189

Results of Operations — Qverview

Income from continuing operations decreased by $11.0 million to $8.1 million in 2001 from
$19.1 million in 2000, a decrease of 576%.

Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes, of $0.1 million, prior to the sale of Leavitt on
March 30, 2001, compared with basically breakeven in 2000. Loss on disposal of discontinued
operations, net of taxes, was $0.2 million in 2001 compared with $36.0 million in 2000.

As a result of the above factors, net income for 2001 was $8.0 million, or $0.52 per diluted
share, an improvement from a net loss for 2000 of $16.9 million, or $1.10 per diluted share.

Sales, SG&A, Operating Income, Interest Expense

and Income from Continuing Operations

Net sales were $231.9 million compared with $289.9 million in 2000, a decrease of 20.0%.

Operating Cash Flow The decrease was due fo o decrease in brass rod shipments and lower metal prices.
Continuing Operations

Gross profit decreased $14.9 million to $30.5 million in 20071 due fo lower unit profit margins
and lower brass rod shipments, Fabrication prices decreased due to competitive pressures.
188 22.5 27.6 17.5 248 Also, gross profit decreased in 2001 due to the $1.8 million lower of costor-market inventory

(dollars in millions}

writedown caused by declining brass metal prices. The decline in gross profit was partially
offset by reduced manufacturing costs resuling from cost controls implemented in 2001,
including the significant curtailment of overtime and discrefionary spending.

Selling, general and adminisirative expenses decreased $0.8 million, or 10.6%, to $6.4 millon
in 2001. The decrease was due to spending controls and cost reductions, which included
reduced professional and consuliing expenses, lower management incentives and decreased
franchise taxes. Also, legal fees were lower in 2001 due fo the sefflement in February 2001,
of the BP liigation.

98 99 00 01
Tender offer and other expenses aggregating $4.4 milion were mainly afibutable to costs

associated with incremental consuting and legal expenses as a result of the unsolicted tender offer,
which expired on January 31, 2001, and related activiies and, also, an executive severance package.

Capital Expenditures Operating income from continuing operations decreased from $31.4 million in 2000

to $12.6 million in 2001.

(dollars in millions)
Net interest income of $0.3 million in 2001 compared with net interest expense of $1.4 million

in 2000. This $1.7 million difference primarily resulted from the elimination of $20 million of debt
in conjunction with the setlement of the liigation with BP and the sale of Leavitt in first quarter 2001.

11.6 11.5 31.1 20.1 39.0

As a result of these factors, income from confinuing operations decreased from $19.1 million in

2000 to $8.1 million in 2001.
Capital Resources and Capital Expenditures

At December 31, 2001, the Company had no debt, a $20 milion decrease from
December 31, 2000.

Capital expenditures totaled $39 million, compared with $20.1 million in 2000. Capital
expenditures in 2001 were primarily for equipment and construction costs for a second

97 98 99 00 01

exirusion press and addifional finishing lines.

Cash flow from operations was $23.3 million, compared with $21.5 million in 2000 and
was applied to fund capital expenditures of $39 million.




Report of
I ndependent A ccountants
To the Board of Directers and Stockholders of Chase Industries Inc.:

We have audited, in accordance with auditing stondards generally accepted in the United States of America, the consolidated
balance sheet of Chase Industries Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consclidated
statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 2001 (not presented herein); and in our report dated February 13, 2002, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those

consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the information sef forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements is fairly stated, in all

material respects, in relafion to the consolidated financial statements from which it has been derived. |

Pmmiﬂ\ﬂ\m&ﬁpm, LLP

Detroit, Michigan
February 13, 2002

M anagement ' s Responsibility for

Finamnoceial Statements:

Management is responsible for the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements which are prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In management’s opinion, the condensed consolidated
financial statements in this Annual Report present fairly the Company's financial position, results of operations and cash flows. In

addition, information and representations included in the Company's Annual Report are consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

The Company maintains ¢ system of internal accounting policies, procedures and controls intended to provide reasonable assurance,
given inherent limitations of all internal control systems, ot appropriate costs, that transactions are executed in accordance with
Compaony authorization, are properly recorded and reported in the consolidated financial statements, and that assets are

adequately safeguarded.

The Company’s independent accountants, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, are engaged to audit and report on our consolidated financial
statements. In performing their audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, they
evaluate selected systems of intfernal control, review selected transactions and carry out other auditing procedures to the extent they

consider necessary in expressing their opinion on our consolidated financial statements.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is comprised solely of non-employee directors and is responsible for overseeing and
monitoring the quality of the Company’s accounting and auditing practices. The independent accountants have full and free access

to the Audit Commitiee and the Board of Directors to discuss internal accounting control, auditing and financial repeorting matters.

John H. Steadman
President and Chief Executive Officer

Ty A7

Todd A. Slater
Confroller and Chief financial Officer
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Q uarterly I nformation

{Unaudited, in thousands, excep? per share information) Year Ended December 31, 2001
First Second Third Fourth
Financiol Date: Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Net sales $ 66,207 $ 56,846 $ 56,503 $ 52,336 $ 231,892
Gross proﬁr £,418 8,186 7423 6,457 30,484
Income from continuing operations 1,624 2,469 2,490 1,543 8,126
Discontinued operafions:
Income, net of taxes 79 - - - 79
Loss on disposal, net of taxes - - - {193) {193)
Net income 1,703 2,46% 2,490 1,350 8,012
Average Shares Qutstanding:
Basic 15,290 15,298 15,298 15,298 15,296 :
Diluted 15,488 15,478 15,461 15,435 15,467 é
Eamings per Share from Continuing Operations: i
Basic $ on $ 016 $ 016 $ o100 $ 053 ‘3
Diluted ® $ or10 $ 016 $ 016 $ o010 $ o053 !
Balance Sheet Dota: ]
Cash and cash equivalents $ 17,278 $ 20,219 $ 23,876 $ 18,206 f
Accounts receivable 27,880 24,919 26,615 22,044 ]
Inventories 22,595 22,498 14,056 17,4917 ;
Working capital 55,283 52,281 48,070 37,550 I
Total assets 159,430 162,061 165,843 174,288 i
Stockholders” equity 119,292 121,762 124,252 124,386 ;
Other Data: ;
Operating cash flow $ (9,167) $ 9,806 $ 12,694 $ 9,970 $ 23,303 !
Capital expenditures 7,489 6,866 9,037 15,640 39,032 ]
?
Year Ended December 31, 2000
First Second Third Fourth
Financial Deta: Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Net sales $ 81635 $ 73835 $ 70010 $ 64438 $ 289918
Gross proﬁt 13,346 12,673 10,981 8,442 45,442
Income from confinuing operations 5,813 5,350 4,250 3,655 19077
Discontinued operations:
Income {loss), net of taxes (136} (428) (89) 643 110)
Loss on disposal, net of taxes - - - {36,000} [36,000)
Net income {loss) 5677 4,931 4161 (31,702 [16,933)
Average Shares Qutstanding:
Basic 15,235 15,258 15,276 15,284 15,263
Diluted 15,347 15,391 15,407 15,365 15,377
Earnings per Share from Continuing Operations:
Basic $ 038 $ 035 $ 028 $ 024 % 125
Diluted $ 03 3 035 $ 028 $ 02 % 1.24
Baolance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1187 $ 1743 $ 6328 $ 3993
Accounts receivable 31,348 28,041 20779 24214
Invenfories 20,601 18,394 24,608 29,072
Working ccp'\‘(cﬂ 21,318 21,394 27728 21988
Total assets 217353 214759 226,514 197203
Stockholders’ equity 139723 144,91 149,138 117494
Other Data:
Operating cash flow $ (5752] $ 10543 $ 10747 $ 6009 $ 21547
Copita] expendﬁures 2,553 4927 4185 8,401 20,066

e Individual quarters do not tofal to yearly amount due to quarterly changes in average shares outstanding.




Condensed Consolidated

B alanoece S he et

(In thousands) December 31,
- 2001 2000
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 18,206 $ 3993
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubiful accounts and claims 22,044 24,214
Inventories 17,491 29072
Prepaid expenses 880 1,253
Deferred income taxes 4,524 3,251
Other assets 2,831 21,600
Total current assets 65,976 83,383
Property, plant and equipment, net 107,644 75,659
Net assefs of disconfinued operctions - 38,161
Pension intangible asset 668 -
Total assefs $174,288 $ 167203

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $19,755 $ 23447
Accrued compensation and benefits 3,907 4170
Accrued income taxes 2,638 2,692
Cther accrued liobilities 2,126 2,741
Current portion of longterm debt - 20,000
Interest payable - Seller's note - 8,345
Total current ligbilifies 28,426 61,395
Environmental and other related liabilities 8,230 3,060
Deferred income taxes 10,693 14,354
Other liabilties 2,553 -
Total liabilities 49,902 79709
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock 153 153
Additional paidin capital 31,980 31,884
Retained eamings 93,469 85,457
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,216) -
Total stockholders” equity 124,386 117494
Total liabilifies and stockholders” equity $174,288 $ 197203
Cond d C lidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity:
{In thousands) Accumulated
— Additional Other
Common Paid-n Retained Comprehensive
Stock Capital Eamnings Loss Total
Balances, January 1, 1999 $ 152 $ 31,493 $ 83,775 $ — $ 115,420
Net income - - 18,615 - 18,615
Exercised stock options - 1 - - N
Balances, December 31, 1999 $ 152 $ 31,504 $102,390 $ - $ 134046
Net loss - - (16,933} - [16,933)
Exercised stock options 1 380 — — 381
Balances, December 31, 2000 $ 153 $ 31884 $ 85457 $ - $ 117494
Net income - - 8012 - 8,012
Other comprehensive loss:
Minimum pension liability
adjustment, net of tox benefit of $66¢ - - - {1,216) (1,216)
Exercised stock options - Q6 - - 96

Balances, December 31, 2007 $ 153 $ 31,980 $ 93,469 $ (1,216) $124,386
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C ondensed C onsolidated

S tate ment Of C as h F1ows

{in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

Operating acfivities:
Income from confinuing operations $ 8126 $ 19077 $ 18113
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net cash

provided by operating acfivities:

Depreciation 7,047 6,544 6,219
Deferred income tax expense 7,228 6,887 1,078
Lower of costormarket inventory wriitedown 1,840 - -
UFO liquidation expense 562 - ~
BP Sefflement {2,000) - -
Changes in assets and liabilifies:
Decrease (increase) in receivables 2,170 (18) (2,083)
Decrease (increase) in inventories 9,179 (10,649} 5,144
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 373 3,181 (3,792)
{Increase) in other assets (2,831} {3,718) {8,627)
{Decrease) increase in accounts payable {3,992) [732) 4,415
(Decrease) increase in accrued liabiliies {2,884) {2,686) 7096
Net cash provided by cperating activilies of confinuing operations 24,818 17886 27563
Discontinued operations:
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations {193) (36,000} -
Non-cash items from discontinued operations 193 36,000 -
Cash {used in} provided by discontinued operations (1,515) 3,601 3,446
Net cash (used in) provided by discontinued operations (1,515) 3,661 3,446
Net cash provided by operating aciivities 23,303 21,547 31,009
Investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary 29,846 - -
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment (39,032} (20,066 {31,078}
Net cash [used in) investing activiiies (9,186) (20,066} [31,078)
Financing activities:
Principal payments on bank term loan - {7000} -
Other, net 96 381 1
Net cash provided by {used in) financing activiies 96 (6,619) 1
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 14,213 [5,138) {58)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 3,993 AK] 9,189

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $18,206 $ 3993 $ 913
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S afe Harbor Disclaimer

This annual report contains forward looking statements regarding the operations of the Company and the industries in

" on

which it operates. These statements are identified by the use of words such as "believe,” "expects,” “anticipates,”

"o

"will" “should” and other words referring o events to occur in the future.

Management uses estimates and assumptions in forming the basis for such forward looking statements. Such estimates
and assumptions, including forecasts regarding demand and pricing for the Company’s products, are subject to risks
and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from historical results or those anticipated, as described
in forward looking statements.

Actual results will be affected by general economic and industry conditions in the end use markets for the
Company's products as well as the impact of competitive products and pricing, including without limitation the impact
of imports. Foreign economic activity and the relationship of the U.S. dollar to other currencies also affect import
levels and exports of U.S. manufactured products containing parts made from brass rod.

The Company's shipments also will be affected by its ability to maintain manufacturing operations at its current levels
without significant interruption and successtully implement its capacity expansion program.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

General

Chase Industries Inc. (the “Company”), through its wholly-owned subsidiary Chase Brass & Copper
Company, Inc. (“CBCC”), is a leading manufacturer of brass rod. The Company’s principal executive offices
are located at 14212 County Road M-50, Post Office Box 152, Montpelier, Chio 43543, and its telephone
number is (419) 485-3193.

CBCC is an ISO 9002 certified manufacturer and supplier of free-machining and forging brass rod in the
United States, Canada and Mexico. Free-machining and forging brass rod, which CBCC estimates represent
approximately 85% and 10%, respectively, of annual brass rod shipments by U.S. mills, are the two primary
types of brass rod used in the United States and Canada. CBCC is one of the largest manufacturers and
suppliers in the United States and Canada of free-machining brass rod. CBCC’s diverse customer base of
more than 250 companies uses its “Blue Dot” trademark brass rod to produce a variety of products, such as
faucets, plumbing fittings, heating and air conditioning components, industrial valves, automotive parts and
numerous hardware components.

CBCC traces its roots to a brass button-making business started in 1837 in Waterbury, Connecticut
(“Old Chase™), which began brass rod operations in 1917. The Company was formed in 1990 by Martin V.
Alonzo, who retired as the Company’s Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer in September 2001,
and Citicorp Venture Capital Ltd. (“CVC”) and certain affiliates of CVC for the purpose of acquiring the
assets and operations of the brass rod division of Old Chase, then a subsidiary of BP America, Inc. (the
“CBCC Acquisition”). The CBCC Acquisition was consummated August 24, 1990, at which time the
Company began operations.

Discontinued Operations

On August 30, 1996, the Company acquired, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Leavitt Tube
Company, Inc. (“Leavitt”), the assets and operations of the steel tube division (“Old Leavitt”) of UNR
Industries, Inc. (“UNR”) (the “Leavitt Acquisition”). Upon consummation of the Leavitt Acquisition,
Leavitt continued operations in the manufacture and sale of structural and mechanical steel tubing and
structural pipe and is a leading producer and supplier in the United States. Structural steel tubing is used in
farm equipment, non-residential construction and other commercial applications. Mechanical steel tubing is
used in a broad range of consumer and commercial products, including furniture and fixtures, lawn-care
products, storage racks, exercise equipment, bicycles and machine tools. Structural pipe is used for handrails,
scaffolding and communications towers.

The competitive environment in the welded steel tube industry became increasingly difficult as a result of
the Asian crisis in June 1997 and its aftermath combined with new production capacity being introduced.
Consequently, tubing shipments and margins came under severe pressure and Leavitt’s returns on invested
capital consistently fell short of expectations. In 1999 and 2000, with the help of outside consultants, the
Company conducted an analysis of methods to increase profitability by restructuring Leavitt and reducing its
costs. While cost reductions and improvements were implemented, the Company concluded that Leavitt could
not achieve acceptable rates of return on invested capital for the foreseeable future. On March 15, 2001, the
Company signed a definitive agreement to sell the assets and operations of Leavitt to privately-held Pinkert
Industrial Group, LLC, headquartered in Chicago. The sale closed on March 30, 2001. The Company
received $31.7 million in cash, before closing costs and fees of $1.9 million. In fourth quarter 2000, the
Company recorded an estimated loss on the sale of Leavitt of $36.0 million, including income tax benefit of
$11.3 million. In fourth quarter 2001, the Company recorded an additional $0.2 million loss on the sale of
Leavitt, which resulted from the additional costs associated with certain post-closing liabilities maintained by
the Company. The disposal of the assets and operations of Leavitt represented the disposal of a business
segment. Consequently, the consolidated financial statements reflect Leavitt as a discontinued operation. For
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discontinued operations information see Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in
Item 8.

Products

CBCC principally produces round and hexagonal shaped brass rod in sizes ranging from 5/16 inch to 4
inches in diameter, which are the primary shapes and sizes used by consumers of free-machining and forging
brass rod. The main attributes of brass rod are its excellent corrosion resistance, the ease with which it can be
machined or forged into a variety of shapes and its moderate strength. Free-machining brass rod is used to
produce brass products, such as valves and fittings, by a machining process during which the brass rod is
formed, drilled and cut. Forging brass is used to produce brass products by a process during which a heated
slug cut from a rod is pressed in an impression die and then machined.

Capital Investment and Continuing Productivity Improvement Programs

CBCC is committed to identifying and implementing programs designed to increase plant utilization,
productivity and profitability. Since the CBCC Acquisition, certain aspects of the manufacturing process have
been improved through reallocation of employee responsibilities and in-house modifications of the manufac-
turing operations. The Company also has completed capital improvements which have improved the reliability
and enhanced the production capacity and productivity of CBCC’s manufacturing facility.

In 1996, CBCC launched the “Project 400" capital expansion project. The project is designed to increase
foundry, extrusion and finishing capabilities with an ultimate goal of increasing finished brass rod production
capability by one-third to more than 400 million pounds annually. The first phase of the project was completed
in early 1998 with the installation of three new billet heaters that increased finished brass rod capacity by
about 17 percent. The new billet heaters have increased productivity and improved quality. The total cost of
the first phase of the project was approximately $12 million and was financed through a six-year operating
lease.

In second quarter 1998, the Company announced Phase I1 of Project 400, which was a $30 million multi-
year investment to construct an additional brass foundry enabling CBCC to increase casting capacity and to
provide customers with multiple alloys. The new brass foundry began producing billets on a trial basis in
February 2000, and is now producing billets at expected production rates. The new foundry has reduced metal
costs and increased production capacity.

In fourth quarter 1999, the Company announced Phase III of Project 400, which is a $50 million multi-
year investment for a second extrusion press and additional finishing equipment. This investment, in addition
to those in the earlier initiative, as discussed above, comprises a $92 million expansion through Project 400.
When Phase II1 comes on line, which is expected to occur in second quarter 2002, CBCC’s production
capacity will increase by about one-third to more than 400 million pounds annually. The new equipment has
been installed, some is already in production and the remainder is at varying stages of commissioning. The
Company anticipates that capital projects will be paid for with cash flows provided by operating activities, cash
on hand and the revolving credit facility, as necessary.

180 9002 Certification. CBCC has significant quality procedures and controls in place in all aspects of
its operations. Effective February 11, 1996, CBCC became the first U.S. brass rod mill to receive an ISO 9002
quality system certification. ISO 9002 is a quality system standard for manufacturers that has been adopted by
at least 74 nations. The ISO 9002 quality system certification signifies a quality system’s adherence to the
internationally recognized ISO standards.

Marketing and Distribution

The Company markets its products through a direct sales force whose territory covers the United States,
Canada and Mexico. Management believes that its experienced sales force provides an important link with its
customers and increases the quality of its service. The Company distributes its products to a diverse customer
base of over 250 companies in North America. The Company’s customers include original equipment
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manufacturers, independent fabricators and distributors. CBCC'’s original equipment manufacturing custom-
ers primarily are in the construction and remodeling, industrial machinery and equipment, electrical and
electronic, transportation and consumer durable goods industries. Independent fabricators produce products
for sale to original equipment manufacturers, while distribution and service centers supply products to original
equipment manufacturers and independent fabricators. The Company’s products are distributed either by
direct shipment from the manufacturing facilities or by shipment from CBCC’s warehouse in Los Angeles.
See “Item 2. Properties.”

Competition

The industries in which the Company operates are highly competitive. Based on available industry data,
the Company estimates that it supplied approximately one-third of the brass rod shipped by U. S. mills in
2001. In addition to CBCC, there currently are five U.S. companies operating a total of six U.S. brass rod
mills, all of which produce both free-machining and forging brass rod. These competitors are Cerro Metal
Products Company, Inc., Mueller Brass Co., Inc., Extruded Metals Inc., Chicago Extruded Metals Company
and Ansonia Copper & Brass, Inc. Although the Company competes with other manufacturers, the Company
is unable to determine the extent to which these competitors’ product lines compete directly with the
Company’s products because the competitors also produce products that the Company does not produce.

The Company also is subject to competition from imported products and alternative materials, such as
ceramics, plastics and steel. The principal competitive factors in the Company’s business are price, quality, on-
time delivery and service. The Company believes that it is an industry leader as a result of its ability to
consistently provide a broad range of high-quality products, on-time delivery and superior service at
competitive prices. See “Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — General — General Economic and Industry Conditions.”

Raw Materials and Supplies

The principal raw material used by the Company is brass scrap. The Company believes adequate supplies
of this raw material are available to the Company. The Company does not rely on any one supplier of raw
materials and it does not believe that the loss of any one source would have a material impact on its business.
See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —
General — Operations.”

Customers

During 2001, 2000 and 1999, no customer or any affiliated group of customers accounted for more than
10% of the Company’s net sales, and the Company does not anticipate that any customer or affiliated group of
customers will account for more than 10% of the Company’s net sales in 2002. The Company does business
with several companies owned by the Masco Corporation. As individual companies, none of these account for
more than 10% of the total pounds shipped by CBCC in 2001. However, in aggregate, 18% of total pounds
shipped by CBCC in 2001 were to Masco companies. Also, in aggregate, the Masco companies do not account
for more than 10% of the Company’s net sales, primarily due to the fact that most of these sales are made on a
tolling basis, where the customer consigns brass scrap to CBCC and is only charged a fabrication price for
processing the brass scrap into finished rod.

Backlog Orders

As of March 21, 2002 and 2001, CBCC had backlog orders totaling $12.6 million and $12.8 million,
respectively. The slight decrease from 2001 was the result of a 4% decrease in the brass metal price partially
offset by an improvement in customer demand that has slowly built throughout first quarter 2002. See “Ttem 7.
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — General —
General Economic and Industry Conditions.” The Company anticipates that all current backlog orders will be
filled during 2002, but is unable to estimate the amount of backlog that will exist as of year end 2002.
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Trademarks

The Company owns the registered trademarks CHASE and a centaur design (which is CBCC’s logo) in
the United States and Canada, and the registered trademark “BLUE DOT” and its design in the United
States and Mexico, for use in connection with CBCC’s products. The Company also owns the registered
trademarks CHASE BRASS & COPPER CO. and a centaur design in Mexico. Because of the recognition of
these trademarks in the industries in which CBCC operates, the Company considers these intellectual
property rights important to its business.

Employees

At December 31, 2001, CBCC had approximately 300 full-time employees, of whom approximately 100
were salaried and approximately 200 were hourly. The Company believes that its relations with its employees
are good and currently does not anticipate any work stoppages.

Environmental Regulation

The Company’s operations are subject to federal, state and local pollution control laws and regulations
relating to the discharge of hazardous or reguiated materials into the environment, the transport and sale of
hazardous materials and the disposal of certain materials and wastes. These laws and related regulations are
changing constantly and, as a consequence, are subject to differing interpretations by the agencies that
administer them. Moreover, increasingly stringent regulations often result in the mandatory implementation of
additional and/or modified pollution control procedures and processes which may result in material increases
in compliance costs.

For the above reasoms, the Company cannot predict with certainty its aggregate future capital
expenditures for pollution control. However, the Company currently estimates that it will incur capital
expenditures for pollution control of approximately $2.5 million in 2002. Estimates of capital expenditures for
poliution control purposes beyond 2002 are even more uncertain. However, assuming no significant manufac-
turing process changes and no significant changes in applicable laws or regulations, the Company currently
anticipates that its capital expenditures for pollution control purposes during the period of 2003-2005 will
aggregate approximately $1.5 million. These estimates are exclusive of expenditures associated with on-site
remediation activities as more fully discussed below. The Company believes that expenditures for pollution
control equipment will continue to be required in the future for continued compliance with applicable
environmental laws and regulations.

Any capital expenditures for pollution control will affect earnings to some degree since funds expended
for this purpose generally provide minimal, if any, monetary return on investment and may divert capital from
income-producing activities. However, the Company does not believe that the current anticipated capital
expenditures for this purpose will have a material impact on the Company’s earnings or consolidated financial
position.

Preliminary studies conducted immediately prior to the CBCC Acquisition indicated that certain areas of
the site upon which CBCC’s manufacturing facility is located had been contaminated by certain volatile
organic compounds (“VOCs”) as well as total petroleum hydrocarbons and certain metals associated with
historical operating practices. As described in Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included
in Item 8, under the terms of a Remediation Agreement entered into in 1990 in connection with the CBCC
Acquisition between the Company and certain affiliates of BP America, Inc., as the owners of the brass rod
division of Old Chase prior to the CBCC Acquisition (collectively, “BP”’), BP was responsible for certain
remediation activities attributable to contamination resulting from operations prior to the CBCC Acquisition.
BP also is obligated under the Asset Purchase Agreement pursuant to which the Company acquired the assets
and operations of CBCC from BP (the “CBCC Purchase Agreement”) to indemnify the Company for certain
liabilities arising out of certain environmental conditions that existed as of the CBCC Acquisition date.

CBCC completed remediation activities for a portion of its site in 1998 and completed additional
remedial actions for other portions of its site in fourth quarter 2000. CBCC also is in the process of developing
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a remediation plan for two additional areas of its site. Based on preliminary cost estimates provided by
CBCC’s independent environmental consultant, and subject to the development by the consultant of a
remediation plan for these areas of the site and the receipt of bids for the remediation activities required under
such plan, the Company estimates that the costs for this project will be approximately $3 million, based upon
capital and operating costs for a period of five years. However, subject to pilot testing and operating
experience, costs may increase or decrease depending on the scale and operating period. As described in
Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8, claims asserted by the Company
against BP under the Remediation Agreement and the CBCC Purchase Agreement for, among other things,
costs incurred and anticipated to be incurred by the Company for these environmental remediation activities
were settled pursuant to a Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release entered into in February 2001. In
conjunction with the BP settlement, the Company recorded an additional $4.8 million environmental reserve.
The Company had remediation spending of $0.6 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001. The
environmental reserve totaled $8.2 million at December 31, 2001.

Based on currently available data, the Company believes that, upon completion of the remediation
activities described above, CBCC will have substantially completed the remediation activities at its site that
are necessary to address contamination of which CBCC currently is aware. However, until completion of these
remedial and associated investigatory activities and approval from the Ohio EPA of CBCC’s activities to
remediate this contamination, as well as remediation activities previously conducted, the Company cannot be
certain that further remediation activities. will not be required at CBCC’s site. To the extent regulatory
agencies require additional remediation at those areas of CBCC’s site where CBCC previously has undertaken
remediation activities, or require excavation of soil at the two areas for which CBCC currently is developing a
remediation plan for in situ remediation, as a part of the settlement of the litigation with BP in first quarter
2001, BP has retained financial responsibility for such remediation activities.

The Company expects to fund cleanup costs related to the remaining remediation activities at its
manufacturing facility with cash on hand and borrowings under its existing revolving credit facility. Therefore,
the Company does not believe that costs that may be incurred in connection with the investigation and cleanup
associated with the environmental matters discussed above will have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s financial position, results of operations or liquidity. For additional information regarding the
environmental matters referenced above, see “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Environmental Matters” and Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in ltem 8.

Item 2. Properties

The Company owns all of its facilities except as indicated below. The Company believes its plants are
suitable for their purposes, are well maintained and are adequately insured.

CBCC’s manufacturing facility and the Company’s executive and general offices are located on a 75-acre
site owned by the Company in Montpelier, Ohio, near the Indiana and Michigan borders. CBCC’s
manufacturing facility in Montpelier consists of one plant of approximately 265,000 square feet. The plant was
originally constructed in 1965 expressly for the purpose of producing free-machining brass rod and the
Company believes that it is the most modern brass rod facility in the United States.

CBCC also leases a warehouse in Los Angeles, California, that contains approximately 47,000 square feet
of storage space. The Los Angeles warchouse lease expires in 2006. The Los Angeles warehouse lease contains
a five-year renewal provision.

CBCC manufactures substantially all of the brass rod it ships. CBCC’s manufacturing facility has
operated seven days a week, 24 hours a day, since 1981 (except for downtime relating to regular maintenance,
capital improvements and minor mechanical failures). CBCC’s “Project 400” capital expansion program is
designed to further increase finished brass rod capacity by one-third to more than 400 million pounds annually.
See “Item 1. Business — Capital Investment and Continuing Productivity Improvement Programs.”
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

CBCC and/or other entities named “Chase Brass & Copper Co.” (which may include Cld Chase or
divisions of Old Chase) have been named by governmental agencies and/or private parties as a potentially
responsible party (“PRP”) under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability
Act of 1980 (“CERCLA”) and/or state laws with respect to four sites, and may have been identified as PRP
at one additional site, as described in the following paragraphs.

CBCC has been named one of over 130 defendants in a CERCLA Section 107 action styled Ashland Oil,
Inc. v. Acme Scrap Iron & Metal Corp., et. al. (Case No. I'94 CV 1592), which seeks recovery of response
costs previously spent and proposed to be spent by the plaintiff Ashland Oil at the Huth Oil Services Company
site located in Cleveland, Ohio. A waste oil reclamation facility was operated at the site from 1938 until 1990.
Beginning in 1983, and at various other times until 1990, both the U.S. EPA and the Ohio EPA conducted
inspections and sampling at this site. In October 1990, the U.S. EPA ordered the plaintiffs, Ashland Chemical
Company (a division of Ashland Qil, Inc.), The Cleveland Electric Illuminating Company and Huth Oil
Services Company, to remediate the site. As a result thereof, the plaintiff has alleged that between 1990 and
1993 it and the other ordered parties have incurred response costs in excess of $10 million. The complaint
alleges that the defendants are each strictly, as well as jointly and severally, liable. The Company believes,
however, that CBCC has had no contact with the site and has no knowledge as to what, if any, share of
response costs has been allocated to CBCC. BP has assumed the defense of this suit because alleged events
giving rise to CERCLA liability occurred prior to the CBCC Acquisition.

CBCC has been notified by a group of private parties of its potential identification as a PRP at a site in
Tifton, Georgia, commonly known as the “SoGreen” site. According to the notice, a flue dust and flyash
recycling facility was operated at the site from approximately 1976 until 1993. Pursuant to a consent order
entered into between Atlantic Steel Industries, Inc., Florida Steel Corporation, Georgetown Steel Corpora-
tion, Owen Electric Steel Company of South Carolina and U.S. Foundry & Manufacturing Corporation
(collectively, the “Steel Companies”) and the Georgia Department of Natural Resources — Environmental
Protection Division, the Steel Companies have been engaged in removing a flue dust pile, and also have
undertaken an assessment of groundwater, at this site. In addition, pursuant to a U.S. EPA unilateral order,
the Steel Companies apparently are engaged in a removal action to remediate contaminated soils, and are
undertaking the cleanup of non-metal contaminants, at the site. The notice also indicates that the Steel
Companies settled, for approximately $3 million, a class action brought by residents of the area near the site
alleging property damage due to the proximity of the residents’ neighborhood to the site. The notice alleges
that CBCC may be liable for contribution with respect to prior cleanup costs incurred by the Steel Companies
and may be required to participate in funding future cleanup costs at the site. According to the notice, the
Steel Companies currently have expended or are committed to expend approximately $17 million (including
settlement of the class action) on matters related to the site. The Company believes that CBCC has had no
contact with this site and that this site received waste materials from an entity named “Chase Brass & Copper
Co.,” which may have been a division of Old Chase (not related to the brass rod division acquired by the
Company), located in North Carolina. BP has assumed defense of this matter.

The Jack’s Creek, or Sitkin Smelting & Refining, site located in Mifflin County, Pennsylvania, was
placed on the U.S. EPA’s National Priorities List in 1989. While CBCC has not received any formal
notification from the U.S. EPA or any third party, the Company believes that Old Chase has been identified
by the U.S. EPA as a PRP. To the Company’s knowledge, however, neither CBCC nor the brass rod division
of Old Chase directly disposed of hazardous waste at this site. Nevertheless, BP has been notified by the
Company of CBCC’s (or Old Chase’s) apparent identification as a PRP and BP’s responsibility for any
liability associated with this site as it relates to periods prior to the date of the CBCC Acquisition. Based on
information available to the Company, it appears that if CBCC or Old Chase were determined to be liable,
liability would be allocated on the basis of 0.5828% of cleanup costs (or approximately $376,000).

In March 1998, CBCC received a notice from the U.S. EPA of its potential identification as a PRP at
two sites, one in Kansas City, Kansas, and one in Kansas City, Missouri. According to the notice, the sites
were operated by waste disposal companies from 1982 until 1987, during which time over 1500 parties sent
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materials containing polychlorinated biphenyls (“PCBs”) to the site. Based on information provided by the
notice, it appears that a third party firm employed by Old Chase to dispose of PCB-containing materials
delivered PCB-containing materials to these sites for treatment and/or disposal, and certain of such materials
came from Cld Chase. Pursuant to an Administrative Order on Consent with the U.S. EPA, a group of PRPs
at the sites are performing an Engineering Evaluation/Cost Analysis (“EE/CA”) to evaluate and compare
different cleanup alternatives at these sites. In addition to the EE/CA, the notice indicates that the U.S. EPA
is planning to conduct removal activities at both facilities, which activities may include a range of possibilities
from cleaning up the contamination inside the buildings and in the surrounding soils to demolition of the
buildings, and to perform follow-through activities to monitor, operate and maintain the completed removal
action. As noted above, the alleged activities with respect to these sites occurred between 1982 and 1987 and,
therefore, CBCC has had no contact with these sites. Based on information provided with the notice, the
Company believes that the brass rod division of Old Chase may have generated waste materials that were
treated and/or disposed of at these sites, and BP has assumed the defense of this matter.

The Company believes that CBCC has no liability for the cleanup costs related to these sites because
(a) such liability is attributable to an entity that had the same or similar name to that of CBCC, such as a
division or subsidiary of BP (other than the brass rod division of Old Chase), or (b) such liability arose from
acts that occurred prior to the CBCC Acquisition and, therefore, BP retained such liability under the CBCC
Purchase Agreement and is contractually obligated to indemnify the Company for such liabilities. To the
extent CBCC incurs any cleanup costs with respect to these sites, it intends to enforce its rights under the
CBCC Purchase Agreement to recover such amounts from BP.

The Company also is a party to other litigation incidental to its business involving claims for damages not
in excess of 10% of its current assets, and other matters, none of which claims or the liability resulting
therefrom the Company believes to be material.

On January 7, 1998, a lawsuit entitled Ken-Chas Reserve Company and BP Exploration {Alaska) Inc.
and The Standard Oil Company v. Chase Industries Inc. and Chase Brass & Copper Company, Inc. was filed
in the Court of Common Pleas in Cuyahoga County, Chio. The Company and BP entered into a Settlement
Agreement and Mutual Release dated February 22, 2001 (the “Settlement Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Company and BP resolved and settled the claims between them that were the subject of the lawsuit.
Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, (1) the Company paid to BP $2 million, (2) the $20 million
promissory note issued to Old Chase as part of the consideration for the CBCC Acquisition (the “BP Note™)
was deemed paid in full, (3) the Company retained responsibility and financial liability for completing in situ
remediation at the two remaining areas of CBCC’s site where additional remediation activities currently are
contemplated to be required and (4) BP retained financial liability for (A) excavation activities that may be
required by regulatory agencies at these two remaining sites and (B) additional remediation activities that
may be required by regulatory agencies at the remaining areas of CBCC’s site, including areas where
remediation activities previously have been conducted. BP also retained and reaffirmed its obligations under
the CBCC Purchase Agreement to indemnify the Company and CBCC for any claim made against the
Company or CBCC in respect of any liability or obligation of BP which was not assumed by the Company or
CBCC as part of the CBCC Acquisition, including without limitation claims related to off-site contamination
and third party claims.

At the time of the BP settlement, the Company had a $21.8 million receivable from BP, a note payable of
$20.0 million and accrued interest on the BP Note aggregating $8.6 million. In February 2001, these amounts
were settled with a payment of $2.0 million to BP. As a result of the settlement and the obligations retained by
the Company, an additional environmental liability totaling $4.8 million was accrued.

For additional information regarding the legal proceedings referenced above, see Note 11 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders, through the solicitation of proxies or
otherwise, during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2001.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Marters

As of March 21, 2002, the Company had outstanding 15,298,045 shares of Common Stock and no shares
of Nonvoting Common Stock.

The Company’s Common Stock is listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”)
under the symbol “CSI.” The Common Stock began trading on the NYSE on November 4, 1994.

The following table sets forth, for the periods shown, the high and low sales prices for the Common Stock
as reported by the NYSE. No cash dividends were paid or declared during such periods.

2001 2000
High Low High Low
First QUarter ... ...t e $11.80 $9.80 $10.31  $7.75
Second QUArtET . . ...t e $11.40 $890 $ 9.75 $8.25
Third quarter ....... ...t $ 9.80 $8.80 $10.81  $8.13
Fourth quarter ....... ... . i $ 929 $825 $10.50 $6.38

As of March 21, 2002, the last reported sales price of the Company’s Common Stock, as reported by the
NYSE, was $11.16 per share, and the Common Stock was held of record by approximately 121 holders.

The Company has not paid or declared any cash dividends on shares of its Common Stock. The Company
has no current plans to pay cash dividends on its Common Stock and anticipates that future earnings will be
retained to finance operations, expansion and acquisitions. The payment of future cash dividends will be at the
sole discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors and will depend upon the Company’s profitability,
financial condition, cash requirements, future earnings prospects and other factors deemed relevant by the
Company’s Board of Directors.

The Bank Credit Facility (as hereinafter defined) also contains certain restrictions on the Company’s
ability to pay dividends. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations — Ligquidity and Capital Resources — Bank Credit Facility.”




Item 6. Selected Financial Data (unaudited; in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Income Statement Data:
Netsales .......oviiiiiiiiniinnnn.. $231,892  $289,918  $272,920  $292,738  $337,158
Cost of goods sold (exclusive of
depreciation shown separately below).... 199,568 244,476 225,724 247,705 288,876
Lower of cost-or-market .
inventory writedowns ................. 1,840 — —_ 3,174 —
Gross profit .......... . ... ... ... 30,484 45,442 47,196 41,859 48,282
Selling, general and administrative expenses 6,400 7,159 10,625 8,398 8,139
Tender offer and other expenses .......... 4,397 381 — — —
Depreciation. . ....... ... 7,047 6,544 6,219 5,759 4,995
Operating income .................... 12,640 31,358 30,352 27,702 35,148
Other non-operating expenses ............ 385 — — — —
Interest (income) expense, net ........... (343) 1,409 1,136 3,111 4,602
Income before income taxes ........... 12,598 29,949 29,216 24,591 30,546
Provision for income taxes............... 4,472 10,872 11,103 9,345 11,608
Income from continuing operations........ 8,126 19,077 18,113 15,246 18,938
Discontinued operations:
Income (loss), net of taxes .......... 79 (10) 502 514 4,884
Loss on disposal, net of taxes ........ (193) (36,000) — — —
Net income (loss) ...........covvvinn.. $ 8012 $(16,933) §$ 18,615 § 15760 § 23,822
Basic Per Share Information:*
Average shares outstanding .............. 15,296 15,263 15,234 15,216 15,141
Income from continuing operations........ $ 053 $§ 125 §$ 119 $§ 101 §$ 125
Income from discontinued operations. . .... — — 0.03 0.03 0.32
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations (0.01) (2.36) — — —
Net income (loss) ..................... $ 052 § (L1 $§ 122 $ 104 § 157
Diluted Per Share Information:*
Average shares outstanding .............. 15,467 15,377 15,336 15,561 15,483
Income from continuing operations........ $ 053 $ 124 $ 118 $§ 098 § 1.22
Income from discontinued operations. .. ... — — 0.03 0.03 0.32
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations (0.01) (2.34) — — —
Net income (loss) ..................... $ 052 $ (1.10) $§ 121 § 101 $ 1.54
Balance Sheet Data (at year end):
Working capital .................... ..., $ 37,550 $ 21,988 $ 18,353 § 29,741 § 23,687
Total assets ............ccoiiiiiiinn.. 174,288 197,203 214,771 182,250 192,554
Totaldebt ........ ... o i, — 20,000 27,000 27,000 47,578
Stockholders” equity .................... 124,386 117,494 134,046 115,420 98,713
Other Data:
Operating cash flow .................... $ 23,303 $ 21,547 § 31,000 $ 37,423 § 14,637
Capital expenditures .................... 39,032 20,066 31,078 11,516 11,611

* Adjusted for the three-for-two stock split effective June 6, 1998
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
General

Sale of Leavitt Tube

In fourth quarter 2000, the Company decided to divest Leavitt. On March 15, 2001, the Company signed
a definitive agreement to sell the assets and operations of Leavitt to privately-held Pinkert Industrial Group,
LLC, headquartered in Chicago. The sale closed on March 30, 2001. The Company received $31.7 million in
cash, before closing costs and fees of $1.9 miltion. In fourth quarter 2000, the Company recorded an estimated
loss on the sale of Leavitt of $36.0 million, including income tax benefit of $11.3 million. In fourth quarter
2001, the Company recorded an additional $0.2 million, net of taxes, loss on the sale of Leavitt, which resulted
from the additional costs associated with certain post-closing liabilities maintained by the Company. The
disposal of the assets and operations of Leavitt represented the disposal of a business segment. Consequently,
the consolidated financial statements reflect Leavitt as a discontinued operation.

Operations

The Company has a brass products segment operated by CBCC and prior to March 30, 2001, had a steel
products segment operated by Leavitt. CBCC is an ISO 9002 certified manufacturer and supplier of free-
machining and forging brass rod in the United States, Canada and Mexico. The assets and operations of
Leavitt were disposed of on March 30, 2001 and are classified as a discontinued operation for all periods
presented.

CBCC’s net sales represent gross sales of brass rod less sales discounts. The gross sales price of brass rod
consists of a metal price charged to customers and a fabrication price as separate components. Cost of goods
sold includes freight delivery costs, the cost of brass scrap, which is the principal raw material used in the
manufacturing process and the primary component of cost of goods sold, as well as the costs of labor, energy
and other materials and supplies used in fabricating the brass scrap into finished rod. Therefore, CBCC’s profit
levels depend primarily on the amount of finished rod shipped, fabrication prices and the difference between
the metal price charged to customers and CBCC’s cost of brass scrap.

CBCC obtains approximately 75% of the brass scrap used in its operations from its customers through
purchase and tolling arrangements. The metal price charged to customers (the “Metal Selling Price”) has
been eight cents per pound higher than the price that brass scrap is purchased from customers (the “Metal
Buying Price”) since September 1999. CBCC also purchases approximately 25% of its brass scrap from scrap
dealers at prevailing free-market prices. Free-market prices of brass scrap fluctuate based on the supply of and
demand for brass scrap and the prices for copper and zinc (the major components of brass), and generally are
less than the Metal Buying Price. Since 1990, free-market prices, as compared to Metal Buying Prices, have
been favorable to CBCC by historical standards and the supply of brass scrap in the United States has been
readily available. Although the supply of brass scrap has resulted in continued favorable free-market scrap
prices through December 2001, there can be no assurance that such discounts will continue. Decreasing
imports of brass rod and increasing demand for brass scrap could cause free-market brass scrap prices to
increase, and increased pressure from customers to purchase brass scrap directly from them at the Metal
Buying Price could reduce CBCC’s ability to take advantage of free-market discounts.

As noted above, CBCC'’s pricing structure consists of the Metal Selling Price and the fabrication price as
separate components. The Metal Selling Price is determined at the time of shipment based on the then-
current Metal Buying Price and is not directly affected by fluctuations in free-market brass scrap prices. As a
result of this pricing structure, increases and decreases in the Metal Selling Price will affect net sales levels
and gross profit as a percentage of sales, even in the absence of an increase or decrease in shipments or the
fabrication prices charged to customers, but will have little impact on gross profit levels. However, the quantity
of free-market brass scrap purchased by CBCC and changes in the difference between the free-market prices
paid for brass scrap and the Metal Buying Price will affect gross profit, even in the absence of an increase or a
decrease in shipments or net sales levels.
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In addition to sales made under the pricing structure described above, approximately 11% of pounds sold
are made on a tolling basis, where the customer consigns brass scrap to CBCC and is charged a fabrication
price for processing the brass scrap into finished rod. Tolling transactions affect net sales by the Metal Selling
Price that otherwise would be charged to the customer in a sale of finished brass rod. To a lesser degree, tolling
transactions also affect gross profit to the extent CBCC is unable to take advantage of the pricing differential
on brass scrap purchased and sold. To partially offset the effect of tolling transactions on gross profit, CRBCC
requires tolling customers to deliver additional pounds of brass scrap in exchange for each pound of finished
rod shipped.

General Economic and Industry Conditions

The demand for the Company’s products generally is dependent upon business conditions in the
industries which use products made from brass rod. Manufacturers of products used in building and
construction and manufacturers of industrial machinery and equipment are the primary users of brass rod.
Therefore, the Company’s operating results during any given period depend significantly on business
conditions in these industries. These industries, in turn, are sensitive to fluctuations in overall economic
activity, movement in interest rates and availability of short-and long-term financing. The Company’s
operating results also depend on its manufacturing capacity, as well as industry production levels and other
market factors.

Beginning in third quarter 2000, the brass rod industry experienced a recession with six consecutive
quarters of decline. During 2001, total apparent consumption of brass rod declined by 24% to approximately
862 million pounds, which included industry shipments of 800 million pounds plus 62 million pounds of net
imports. Industry shipments decreased from 2000 by approximately 183 million pounds, or 19%, while net
imports decreased by 87 million pounds, or 58%. The downturn reached its low point in second quarter 2001
with industry shipments down 22% compared with second quarter 2000, which followed a decline in industry
shipments of 19% in first quarter 2001 compared with the prior year. The decline in industry shipments was
17% in the second half 2001 compared with second half 2000. Net imports also declined as the domestic brass
mills recaptured a portion of total apparent consumption. Net imports represented only 7% of total apparent
consumption in 2001 as compared to 13% in 2000. With the overall economy in a recession in 2001 and the
manufacturing sector of the economy experiencing over one year of declines and dramatic inventory
liquidations throughout the supply chain, customers in all end-use market categories saw softening in 2001.
While the total apparent consumption weakened by 24% during 2001, CBCC’s shipments only declined by
11% during 2001.

2002 Outlook. Based on the anticipated overall economic recovery, strong housing and remodeling
activity, and inventory reductions in 2001 throughout the supply-chain, the Company is forecasting a 10%
increase in total apparent consumption of brass rod for 2002. The Company expects that net imports will
continue at levels similar to 2001, as domestic brass producers should have adequate capacity to meet the
anticipated 2002 customer demand. The Company is anticipating a mild recovery in brass rod shipments
during first quarter 2002 with demand continuing to build as the economy improves and the year progresses.
However, the Company sees continued pressure on gross margins in 2002, which would dampen the impact of
increased shipments on earnings. To the extent the end use markets for the products manufactured from brass
rod remain depressed or experience further weakening, or consumer confidence is weakened by further
terrorist activities and military and other responses to terrorist activity, the Company expects that demand for
its brass rod and unit margins will be adversely affected.

Forecasts of future industry consumption, future levels of imports and future shipments by the Compa‘ny
are forward-looking and are subject to risks and uncertainties, including without limitation those identified
below, which could cause actual results to differ materially from historical results or those anticipated. There
can be no assurance that the Company’s projection of apparent consumption will occur. The general economic
and industry conditions discussed above will affect actual results and developments in those areas. Foreign
economic activity and the relationship of the U.S. dollar to other currencies also affect import levels and
exports of U.S. manufactured products containing parts made from brass rod. The Company’s 2002 shipments
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also will be affected by its ability to maintain manufacturing o‘perations without significant interruption and
successfully implement its capacity expansion program.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost-or-market, with cost determined on the last-in, first-out
(LIFO) basis. Inventories have been written down to lower of cost-or-market and such amounts are
considered cost for subsequent years. In October 2001, Chase reduced brass metal prices to the lowest levels in
14 years. This decrease resulted in a lower of cost-or-market inventory writedown of $1.8 million in fourth
quarter 2001. If the first-in, first-out (FIFQO) method for determining cost had been used, inventories would
have been approximately $1.0 million lower at December 31, 2001 and $0.4 million higher at December 31,
2000.

The Company experienced an inventory reduction in 2001, which resulted in a liquidation of LIFO
inventory quantities carried at higher costs prevailing in prior years. The effect of this non-cash inventory
reduction decreased operating income by $562,000 in 2001. There were no LIFQO liquidations in 2000 or 1999.

Results of Operations (Unaudited; in millions)
Year Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

NEt SAIES Lo\ttt ettt e $231.9 $ 2899 $2729
Costofgoodssold......... .. .. i 199.6 244.5 225.7
Lower of cost-or-market inventory writedown .................. 1.8 — —

Gross profit . ... 30.5 454 47.2
Selling, general and administrative expenses ................... 6.4 7.1 10.7
Tender offer and other expenses ....... ... . ... ... .. ... .. 4.4 0.4 —
Depreciation. . . ... 7.1 6.5 6.2

Operating inComMe .. .......ovreeeinenenan. P 12.6 314 30.3
Other non-operating eXpenses . .. .........uveerneeennnennn... 0.4 — —
Interest (income) €XPense, NEL . ..o vt ve e nenre e, (0.4) 1.4 1.1

Income before income taxes ......... ... ... .. .. o 12.6 30.0 29.2
Provision for income taxes . ........ ... ...t 4.5 10.9 11.1

Income from continuing operations. ........................ 8.1 19.1 18.1
Discontinued operations:

Income from discontinued operation, net of tax .............. 0.1 — 0.5

Loss ondisposal, netof tax ............ ... oot (0.2) (36.0) —
Netincome (10SS) ... $ 80 §$ (169) §$ 18.6

2001 Compared with 2000

Net sales decreased $58.0 million, or 20.0%, to $231.9 million in 2001. Net sales decreased mainly as a
result of an 11% decrease in brass rod shipments and a 10% decrease in the brass rod Metal Selling Price. As
previously discussed above under “General Economic and Industry Conditions,” the brass rod industry has
experienced a recession with six consecutive quarters of shipment declines. However, CBCC’s shipments only
declined by 11% while the industry shipments were off 19%. Also, net imports declined by 58%. Customers
across all market sectors experienced softening.

Gross profit decreased $14.9 million, or 32.8%, to $30.5 million in 2001. Lower brass rod shipments and
lower unit profit margins adversely affected gross profit. Fabrication prices decreased due to competitive
pressures in the market. Also, gross profit decreased in 2001 due to the $1.8 million lower of cost-or-market
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inventory writedown caused by declining brass metal prices. In response to lower profitability, the Company
implemented cost controls in 2001, including the significant curtailment of overtime and discretionary
spending, which resulted in a decrease of 6% in manufacturing costs. These cost reductions were achieved
despite contractual labor rate increases and higher utility rates and medical costs.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses decreased by $0.7 million, or 9.9%, to
$6.4 million in 2001. The decrease was due to spending controls and cost reductions, which included reduced
professional and consulting expenses, lower management incentives and decreased franchise taxes. Also, legal
fees were lower in 2001 due to the settlement, in February 2001, of the litigation with BP.

Tender offer and other expenses aggregating $4.4 million and $0.4 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively,
were attributable to costs associated with incremental consulting and legal expenses resulting from activities
related to an unsolicited tender offer, which expired on January 31, 2001, and an executive severance package.

Depreciation expense increased by $0.6 million, or 9.2%, to $7.1 million, due to depreciation on the new
brass foundry capitalized in 2000 and the initial depreciation on the Phase II1 buildings and infrastructure.

As a result of the above factors, operating income from continuing operations decreased $18.8 million, or
59.9%, to $12.6 million in 2001.

Other non-operating expenses of $0.4 million consisted of the Company’s write-off of its investment in
MetalSpectrum LLC, a consortium of major metals-related companies that provided business-to-business
internet services. MetalSpectrum ceased operations in June due to low demand for its services and economic
conditions.

Interest income of $0.4 million in 2001 compares with interest expense of $1.4 million in 2000. This
$1.8 million difference primarily resulted from the elimination of $20 million of debt in conjunction with the
settlement of the litigation with BP and the sale of Leavitt in first quarter 2001.

As a result of the above factors, income before income taxes decreased $17.4 million, or 58.0%, to
$12.6 million in 2001 from $30.0 million in 2000.

Income tax expense decreased $6.4 million, or 58.7%, to $4.5 million as a result of the decrease of
$17.4 million, or 58.0%, in income before income taxes and a reduction in the effective tax rate from 36.3% in
2000 to 35.5% in 2001. The effective tax rate was lower in 2001 due to the state tax consequences resulting
from the sale of Leavitt and other state tax planning initiatives including tax incentives related to CBCC’s
Project 400 capital investment.

Based on the preceding explanations, income from continuing operations decreased by $11.0 million, or
57.6%, to $8.1 million in 2001, from $19.1 million in 2000. Excluding the impact, net of taxes, of the lower of
cost-or-market inventory writedown, the unsolicited tender offer expenses and the write-off of the Company’s
investment in MetalSpectrum, income from continuing operations was $12.4 million, a decrease of $6.9 mil-
lion, or 35.8%, from $19.3 million in 2000.

Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes, of $0.1 million, prior to the sale of Leavitt on
March 30, 2001, compares to basically break-even in 2000.

- Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net of taxes, was $0.2 million in 2001 as compared to
$36.0 million in 2000. The additional loss recorded in 2001 was the result of additional costs associated with
certain post-closing liabilities maintained by the Company. The sale of Leavitt was previously discussed above
under “General — Sale of Leavitt Tube.”

As a result of the above factors, net income for 2001 was $8.0 million, or $0.52 per diluted share,
compared with a net loss for 2000 of $16.9 million, or $1.10 per diluted share.
2000 Compared With 1999

Net sales increased $17.0 million, or 6.2%, to $289.9 million in 2000. Net sales increased mainly as a
result of a 9% increase in the brass rod Metal Selling Price. Partially offsetting this increase was a 1% decline
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inventory writedown caused by declining brass metal prices. In response to lower profitability, the Company
implemented cost controls in 2001, including the significant curtailment of overtime and discretionary
spending, which resulted in a decrease of 6% in manufacturing costs. These cost reductions were achieved
despite contractual labor rate increases and higher utility rates and medical costs.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses decreased by $0.7 million, or 9.9%, to
$6.4 million in 2001. The decrease was due to spending controls and cost reductions, which included reduced
professional and consulting expenses, lower management incentives and decreased franchise taxes. Also, legal
fees were lower in 2001 due to the settlement, in February 2001, of the litigation with BP. ‘

Tender offer and other expenses aggregating $4.4 million and $0.4 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively,
were attributable to costs associated with incremental consulting and legal expenses resulting from activities
related to an unsolicited tender offer, which expired on January 31, 2001, and an executive severance package.

Depreciation expense increased by $0.6 million, or 9.2%, to $7.1 million, due to depreciation on the new
brass foundry capitalized in 2000 and the initial depreciation on the Phase III buildings and infrastructure.

As a result of the above factors, operating income from continuing operations decreased $18.8 million, or
59.9%, to $12.6 million in 2001.

Other non-operating expenses of $0.4 million consisted of the Company’s write-off of its investment in
MetalSpectrum LLC, a consortium of major metals-related companies that provided business-to-business
internet services. MetalSpectrum ceased operations in June due to low demand for its services and economic
conditions.

Interest income of $0.4 million in 2001 compares with interest expense of $1.4 million in 2000. This
$1.8 million difference primarily resulted from the elimination of $20 million of debt in conjunction with the
settlement of the litigation with BP and the sale of Leavitt in first quarter 2001.

As a result of the above factors, income before income taxes decreased $17.4 million, or 58.0%, to
$12.6 million in 2001 from $30.0 million in 2000.

Income tax expense decreased $6.4 million, or 58.7%, to $4.5 million as a result of the decrease of
$17.4 million, or 58.0%, in income before income taxes and a reduction in the effective tax rate from 36.3% in
2000 to 35.5% in 2001. The effective tax rate was lower in 2001 due to the state tax consequences resulting
from the sale of Leavitt and other state tax planning initiatives including tax incentives related to CBCC’s
Project 400 capital investment.

Based on the preceding explanations, income from continuing operations decreased by $11.0 million, or
57.6%, to $8.1 million in 2001, from $19.1 million in 2000. Excluding the impact, net of taxes, of the lower of
cost-or-market inventory writedown, the unsolicited tender offer expenses and the write-off of the Company’s
investment in MetalSpectrum, income from continuing operations was $12.4 million, a decrease of $6.9 mil-
lion, or 35.8%, from $19.3 million in 2000.

Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes, of $0.1 million, prior to the sale of Leavitt on
March 30, 2001, compares to basically break-even in 2000.

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net of taxes, was $0.2 million in 2001 as compared to
$36.0 million in 2000. The additional loss recorded in 2001 was the result of additional costs associated with
certain post-closing liabilities maintained by the Company. The sale of Leavitt was previously discussed above
under “General — Sale of Leavitt Tube.”

As a result of the above factors, net income for 2001 was $8.0 million, or $0.52 per diluted share,
compared with a net loss for 2000 of $16.9 million, or $1.10 per diluted share.
2000 Compared With 1999

Net sales increased $17.0 million, or 6.2%, to $289.9 million in 2000. Net sales increased mainly as a
result of a 9% increase in the brass rod Metal Selling Price. Partially offsetting this increase was a 1% decline

13




in brass rod shipment pounds. The shipment gains earlier in 2000 were offset by a fourth quarter decline. In
the fourth quarter 2000, an economic slowdown adversely impacted incoming order rates from customers
across all market segments.

Gross profit decreased $1.8 million, or 3.8%, to $45.4 million in 2000 due to slightly lower unit profit
margins and lower brass rod shipments. Increased costs for electricity, natural gas and fuel were partially offset
by improved profitability of brass purchased on the free-market.

SG&A expenses decreased $3.2 million, or 29.9%, to $7.5 million for 2000. The decrease was due to
reduced professional and consulting expenses, lower management incentives and decreased franchise taxes,
partially offset by higher legal fees in 2000, which were due mainly to the BP litigation.

Depreciation expense increased by $0.3 million, or 4.8%, to $6.5 miilion due to the new brass foundry.

As a result of the above factors, operating income increased $1.1 million, or 3.6%, to $31.4 million in
2000.

Net interest expense increased by $0.3 million, or 27.3%, to $1.4 million for 2000. The increase was
primarily the result of $0.4 million less capitalized interest expense on the brass rod extrusion and finishing
expansion in 2000 than on the new brass rod foundry in 1999 due to the stage of completion of each project.

As a result of the above factors, income before income taxes increased by $0.8 million, or 2.7%, to
$30.0 million in 2000 from $29.2 million in 1999.

Income tax expense decreased by $0.2 million, or 1.8%, to $10.9 million as a result of a reduction in the
effective tax rate from 38% in 1999 to 36.3% partially offset by the tax on an increase of $0.8 million in income
before taxes. The lower effective tax rate in 2000 was primarily the result of state tax planning initiatives
including tax incentives related to CBCC’s Project 400 capital investment. In first quarter 2000, the Internal
Revenue Service (the “IRS™) completed an examination of the federal income tax return filed by the
Company for year ended December 31, 1996. In July 2000, the Company received a refund in the amount of
$1.1 miilion from the IRS resulting from the treatment of settled issues for that year.

As a result of the above factors, income from continuing operations increased by $1.0 million, or 5.5%, to
$19.1 million, or $1.24 per diluted share, in 2000 from $18.1 million, or $1.18 per diluted share, in 1999.

Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes, decreased to basically break-even in 2000 from
$0.5 million of income, net of taxes, in 1999. Leavitt’s results decreased in 2000 due to lower steel tubing
shipments and lower unit margins. Despite higher selling prices, flat-rolled steel prices increased more than
Leavitt was able to pass along to its customers due to competitive pressures, thereby resulting in lower unit
margins. Leavitt's 1999 results also included a $0.9 million lower of cost-or-market inventory writedown.

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net of taxes, was $36.0 million. In March 2001, the Company
signed a definitive sale agreement for the assets and certain liabilities of Leavitt Tube. Additional discussion
on the sale of Leavitt was previously discussed above under “General — Sale of Leavitt Tube.”

Net loss for 2000 was $16.9 million, or $1.10 per diluted share, compared with net income for 1999 of
$18.6 million, or $1.21 per diluted share.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

General

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $18.2 million, increasing from $4.0 million at year end 2000. At
December 31, 2001, the Company had no debt, a $20 million decrease from December 31, 2000.

The Company currently is meeting its operational and liquidity needs with cash on hand, internally
generated funds and amounts available under the revolving credit facility.
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Working Capital

At December 31, 2001, working capital was $37.6 million, increasing from $22.0 million at December 31,
2000. Working capital at December 31, 2000, included a $21.6 million receivable from BP and the BP Note
payable of $20.0 million and interest accrued on the BP Note aggregating $8.3 million. These amounts were
settled in February 2001 with a CBCC payment of $2 million to BP. See further discussion of the BP
settlement at Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. Working capital at
December 31, 2001, was $37.6 million, a $8.9 million, or 31.0%, increase from $28.7 million at December 31,
2000, excluding the BP related amounts. Increases in cash and cash equivalents of $14.2 million and deferred
income taxes and income taxes receivable totaling $4.1 million and decreases in accounts payable of $3.6
million and accrued liabilities of $0.9 million were partially offset by decreases in accounts receivable of
$2.2 million and inventory of $11.6 million.

Accounts receivable decreased from the prior year due to a 19% reduction in net sales in fourth quarter
2001 compared with 2000. Offsetting this reduction was an increase in the Company’s accounts receivable
days outstanding from the prior year, partially due to certain customers electing not to take advantage of
prompt payment discounts in 2001 coupled with the slowing of the economy. The decrease in inventory was
due to management’s efforts to reduce finished goods and to match inventory levels with current reduced
shipment rates. Also, inventory decreased from the prior year due to the lower of cost-or-market inventory
writedown caused by declining metal prices. The increase in deferred taxes and income tax receivable was
primarily attributable to the $2.8 million income tax refund that was the result of a net operating loss arising
from the divestiture of Leavitt, which is expected to be carried back to 1999. The decrease in accounts payable
primarily was due to reduced metal purchases resulting from lower production requirements and the inventory
reductions discussed above. Partially offsetting the decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities was an
increase in accrued capital expenditures due to Phase IIT nearing completion in fourth quarter 2001.

The Company’s current ratio follows:

December 31,

000 200
CUITent ratio. . . .ottt e 2.32 1.36
Current ratio excluding cash. .. ... .. e 1.68 1.29

Cash Flow Provided by Operating Activities

In 2001 net cash provided by operating activities was $23.3 million compared to $21.5 million in 2000.
The primary sources of cash from operating activities in 2001 were income from continuing operations of
$8.1 million, depreciation of $7.0 million, a deferred tax expense of $7.2 million and a reduction in assets and
liabilities, excluding cash, debt and deferred taxes of $2.0 million. The change in working capital for 2001 was
explained above in “Working Capital.” These were partially offset by the settlement of the litigation with BP
for $2.0 million. Cash provided by continuing operations of $24.8 million was partially offset by cash used in
discontinued operations of $1.5 million.

In 2000, net cash provided by operating activities was $21.5 million compared to $31.0 million in 1999.
The primary sources of cash from operating activities in 2000 were income from continuing operations of
$19.1 million, depreciation of $6.5 million, and a deferred tax expense of $6.9 million partially offset by an
increase in assets and liabilities, excluding cash, debt and deferred taxes of $14.6 million. An increase in
inventory of $10.6 million and a decrease in current liabilities of $3.4 million were partially offset by a decrease
in prepaid expenses of $3.2 million. In addition to cash provided by continuing operations of $17.9 miltion,
cash provided by discontinued operations totaled $3.6 million.

At December 31, 2000, working capital was $22.0 million, a $3.6 million, or 19.6%, increase from
$18.4 million at December 31, 1999. Working capital at December 31, 2000, included a $21.6 million
receivable from BP and the BP Note payable of $20.0 million and interest accrued on the BP Note
aggregating $8.3 million. These amounts were long-term assets and liabilities at December 31, 1999, and were
settled in February 2001 with a CBCC payment of $2.0 miilion to BP. See further discussion of the BP
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settlement at Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in ftem 8. Excluding the BP
related amounts, working capital at December 31, 2000, was $28.7 million, a $10.3 million increase from 1999.
Decreases in cash and cash equivalents of $5.1 million and prepaid expenses of $3.2 million were offset by an
increase in inventory of $10.6 million and a decrease in current liabilities of $3.4 million. The increase in
inventory was partially due to an increase in brass rod accumulated in advance of maintenance outages in
fourth quarter 2000, which was not needed as shipments slowed in fourth quarter 2000. Additionally, inventory
increased due to the timing of brass scrap purchases. The decrease in current liabilities was the result of the
timing of metal purchases and payment of accrued environmental costs.

In 1999, net cash provided by operating activities was $31.0 million compared to $37.4 million in 1998.
The primary sources of cash from operating activities in 1999 were income from continuing operations of
$18.1 million, depreciation of $6.2 million, a deferred tax expense of $1.1 million and a reduction in assets and
liabilities, excluding cash, debt and deferred taxes of $2.2 million. In addition to cash provided by continuing
operations of $27.6 million, cash provided by discontinued operations totaled $3.4 million.

At December 31, 1999, working capital was $18.4 million which decreased $11.3 million from
$29.7 million at December 31, 1998. A decrease in inventory of $5.1 million, and an increase in accounts
payable and accrued liabilities of $11.5 million were partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable of
$2.1 million and an increase in prepaid expenses of $3.8 million. The decline in inventory was due to timing of
metal receipts and management’s efforts to reduce inventory levels. The increase in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities was mainly due to the timing of metal purchases, increased capital expenditures payable due
to the status of the foundry project in 1999 compared to the billet heater project in 1998, and the accrued
environmental costs of $6.6 million at December 31, 1999. Accounts receivable increased primarily due to an
increase in net sales in December 1999 compared to December 1998,

Cash Flow (Used in) Investing Activities

The proceeds from the sale of Leavitt provided cash flow from investing activities of $31.7 million, before
closing costs and fees of $1.9 million. Capital expenditures were $39.0 million, $20.1 million and $31.1 million
in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Capital expenditures included equipment and construction costs for a
second extrusion press and additional finishing lines in 2001; final installation and equipment costs for the new
foundry and initial capital equipment and construction costs of Phase III of Project 400 in 2000; and
equipment and construction costs for the new CBCC foundry in 1999.

Cash Flow Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities of $0.1 million during 2001 resulted from stock option exercises.
During 2000, the Company prepaid the remaining $7.0 million on the Term Loan (as hereinafter defined).
The Term Loan was paid off in June 2000, three years ahead of schedule. In addition, the Company received
$0.4 million upon the exercise of stock options. Cash provided by financing activities during 1999 resulted
from stock option exercises.

Capital Resources

In 1996, CBCC launched a capital project referred to as “Project 400.” The project is designed to
increase foundry, extrusion and finishing capabilities with an ultimate goal of increasing finished brass rod
production capability by one-third to more than 400 million pounds annually. The first phase of the project
was completed in early 1998 with the installation of three new billet heaters that increased finished brass rod
capacity by about 17 percent. The new billet heaters have increased productivity and improved quality. The
total cost of the first phase of the project was approximately $12 million and was financed through a six-year
operating lease.

In second quarter 1998, the Company announced Phase 11 of Project 400, which was a $30 million multi-
year investment to construct an additional brass foundry enabling CBCC to increase casting capacity and to
provide customers with multiple alloys. The new brass foundry began producing billets on a trial basis in
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February 2000 and is now producing billets at expected production rates. The new foundry has reduced metal
costs and increased production capacity.

In fourth quarter 1999, the Company announced Phase Iil of Project 400, which is a $50 million multi-
year investment for a second extrusion press and additional finishing equipment. When Phase III comes on
line, which is expected to occur in second quarter 2002, CBCC’s production capacity will increase by about
one-third to more than 400 million pounds annually. The new equipment has been installed, some is already in
production, and the remainder is at varying stages of commissioning. The Company anticipates that capital
projects will be paid for with cash flows provided by operating activities, cash on hand, and the revolving credit
facility, as necessary.

Bank Credit Facility

In connection with the Leavitt Acquisition, the Company entered into a credit facility (the “Bank Credit
Facility””) of $100 million agented by PNC Bank, National Association (“PNC Bank™). The Bank Credit
Facility originally included a $60 million term loan (“Term Loan”) and a $40 million revolving credit facility
(“Revolving Credit Facility”). Prior to second quarter 2000, the Company had prepaid all amounts on the
Term Loan originally due through April 2001. The remaining balance of $7 million on the Term Loan was
prepaid in second quarter 2000. Effective September 8, 1999, the Company and PNC Bank agreed on an
amendment to the Bank Credit Facility which increased the Revolving Credit Facility by $10 million, to
$50 million. On September 1, 2000, the Company and PNC Bank agreed on an extension to August 30, 2002,
on the Revolving Credit Facility.

Advances under the Bank Credit Facility bear interest at alternative variable rates based on certain
percentages, as provided in the agreement, in excess of the PNC Bank’s prime rate, the Federal funds rate or
LIBOR, with interest payable quarterly or as of the end of each LIBOR borrowing period, whichever is
shorter. There were no borrowings outstanding on the Bank Credit Facility at December 31, 2001 and 2000.

The Bank Credit Facility contains certain covenants that, among other things, limit the Company’s ability
to incur additional debt or pay dividends. The covenants also require the Company to maintain a minimum
interest coverage ratio and level of net worth and restrict the Company from exceeding a maximum ratio of
debt to cash flow from operations. The Bank Credit Facility also requires the Company to maintain CBCC as
a wholly-owned subsidiary.

As of December 31, 2601, no amount was outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility. Total
availability under the Revolving Credit Facility was $47.1 million as of December 31, 2001.

Average Revolving Credit Facility Borrowings

There was no outstanding balance under the Revolving Credit Facility during 2001. The average
outstanding balance under the Revolving Credit Facility in 2000 was $0.7 million. As of March 21, 2002, the
Company had available $47.6 million under the Revolving Credit Facility. For a discussion of long-term
borrowings under the Bank Credit Facility, see Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Contingencies — Environmental Matters

As discussed in “Item 1. Business — Environmental Regulation” and Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Irem 8, CBCC is subject to certain contingent liabilities relating to
environmental conditions at its manufacturing facility.

CBCC is in the process of developing a remediation plan for in situ remediation at two areas of its site
contaminated with certain VOCs. Based on preliminary cost estimates provided by CBCC’s independent
environmental consultant, and subject to the development by the consultant of a remediation plan for these
areas of the site and the receipt of bids for the remediation activities required under such plan, the Company
estimates that the costs for this project will be approximately $3 million, based upon capital and operating
costs for a period of five years. A reserve for this amount previously has been established. However, subject to
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- pilot testing and operating experience, Costs may increase or decrease depending on the scale and operating
period.

In first quarter 2001, the Company settled certain matters with BP which are discussed in Nore 1/ of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. In conjunction with the BP settlement, the
Company recorded a $4.8 million environmental reserve. The Company had remediation spending of $0.6
million during 2001. The environmental reserve totaled $8.2 million at December 31, 2001.

Based on currently available data, the Company believes that, upon completion of the remediation
activities described above, CBCC will have substantially completed the remediation activities at its site that
are necessary 10 address contamination of which CBCC currently is aware. However, until completion of these
remedial and associated investigatory activities and receipt of approval from the Ohio EPA of CBCC’s
activities to remediate this contamination, as well as remediation activities previously conducted, the
Company cannot be certain that further remediation activities will not be required at CBCC’s site. To the
extent regulatory agencies require additional remediation at those areas of CBCC’s site where CBCC
previously has undertaken remediation activities, or require excavation of soil at the two areas for which
CBCC currently is developing a remediation plan for in situ remediation, as a part of the settlement of the
litigation with BP in first quarter 2001, BP has retained financial responsibility for such remediation activities.

The Company expects to fund cleanup costs related to the remaining remediation activities at its
manufacturing facility with cash on hand and borrowings under its existing Bank Credit Facility. Therefore,
the Company does not believe that funding these remediation activities will have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

The statements set forth herein regarding anticipated expenditures for environmental matters are forward
looking, are based on sampling results currently available to the Company, remediation plans in the process of
being developed by independent consultants of CBCC (which plans are subject to assumptions regarding
applicable cleanup standards and methodologies) and preliminary cost estimates for completion of the
remediation activities. Actual costs required to be expended by the Company with respect to such matters may
differ materially from current expectations depending on the final resolution of known uncertainties, including
finalization of remediation plans for the two remaining areas of CBCC’s site as discussed above, completion of
proposed remediation activities, acceptance by applicable governmental agencies of cleanup standards relied
upon in developing remediation plans and conducting remediation activities, discovery of additional contami-
nants during remediation, and any change in CBCC’s proposed use of its property which affects any applicable
cleanup standard.

Contingencies — Legal Proceedings

As discussed in “Ttem 3. Legal Proceedings” and Note 11 of Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Item 8, in February 2001 the Company and CBCC settled a lawsuit with BP, originally filed in
January 1998, regarding amounts payable under the BP Note.

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In the preparation of these financial statements,
management has made estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. As the application of these
accounting polices involves the exercise of judgment and use of assumptions as to future uncertainties and, as
a consequence, actual results could differ from these estimates. The following represents the Company’s
critical accounting policies in which significant judgment and the use of assumptions have been made, see
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Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item & for additional accounting
policies:

Allowance for doubtful accounts and claims

The Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts and claims of $916,000 and $990,000, at December 31,
2001 and 2000, respectively, represents an estimate of the amount of trade receivables at each year end that
may become uncollectible. Management specifically analyzes individual customers’ credit-worthiness and the
Company’s credit exposure, current economic trends, changes in customer payment terms, aging of accounts
receivables, and historical bad debts when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts and
claims. If unforeseen adverse circumstances occurred, such as a large customer unable to meet its financial
commitment to the Company, the allowance for doubtful accounts and claims could be inadequate. Over the
last three years, the Company has written off accounts receivable totaling $159,000.

Inventory valuation

Inventories are stated at lower of cost-or-market with cost being determined on the last-in, first-out
(LIFO) basis. As demonstrated in 2001, the price of brass fluctuates with brass metal prices hitting a 14-year
low. As a result, the Company recorded a $1.8 million lower of cost-or-market inventory writedown. If the
market value for brass rod were one cent per pound lower at December 31, 2001, then inventory writedown
would have been approximately $250,000 greater. The Company’s inventory obsolescence cost is nominal due
to the nature of its products. If the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method for determining cost had been used,
inventories would have been approximately $1.0 million lower at December 31, 2001 and $0.4 higher at
December 31, 2000.

Deferred Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized on the differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. The Company has a $4.3 million valuation
allowance as of December 31, 2001, due to the uncertainties related to the Company’s ability to utilize the
capital loss carryforward from the disposal of Leavitt before it expires in 2006. If the Company should
determine that it would be able to utilize the capital loss carryforward in the future, an adjustment to deferred
tax assets would increase income in the period such determination was made.

Retirement Plans

The determination of the Company’s obligation and expense for its defined benefit retirement plans are
dependent on the Company’s selection of certain assumptions used by the actuary in calculating such
amounts. Those assumptions are described in Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Item 8, and include among others, the discount rate and expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets. In addition, the Company’s actuarial consultants also use subjective factors such as withdrawal and
mortality rates to estimate such amounts. In-accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, actual results that differ from the Company’s assumptions are accumulated and
amortized over future periods and therefore, generally affect expense and recorded obligations in future
periods. While the Company believes that the assumptions are appropriate, significant differences in actual
experience or significant changes in the Company’s assumptions may materially affect pension obligations and
future expense. ‘

Environmental Liability

The Company is subject to certain contingent liabilities with respect to CBCC’s facility. CBCC is in the
process of developing a remediation plan for in situ remediation at two areas of its site that are contaminated
with certain VOCs. Based on preliminary cost estimates provided by CBCC’s independent environmental
consultant, and subject to the development by the consultant of a remediation plan for these areas of the site
and the receipt of bids for the remediation activities required under such plan, the Company estimates the cost
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for this project to approximate $3 million, based upon capital and operating costs for a period of five years.
However, subject to pilot testing and operating experience, costs may increase or decrease depending on the
scale and operating period. Liabilities related to environmental matters are further discussed in Note 11 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The timing of contractual obligations and commercial commitments of the Company, at December 31,
2001, related to operating leases, purchases of capital equipment and stand-by letters of credit, is as follows (in
thousands):

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Operating leases:
Six-year operating lease®. . ..................... $1,053 $1,027 $42 $— § —
Other....... ... 264 230 224 224 112
Purchases of capital equipment ................... 9,300
Stand-by letters of credit......................... 2,852

* In March 2002, the Company purchased all of the equipment subject to the six-year operating lease for
$10.4 million. For additional discussion regarding the six-year operating lease see Note 10 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in frtem 8.

Inflation

The Company does not believe that its operations have been significantly affected by inflation.

Safe Harbor

This document contains forward-looking statements regarding the operations of the Company and the
industries in which it operates. These statements are identified by the use of words such as “believe,”
“expects,” “anticipates,” “will,” “should” and other words referring to events to occur in the future.
Management uses estimates and assumptions in forming the basis for such forward-looking statements. Such
estimates and assumptions, including forecasts regarding demand and pricing for the Company’s products, are
subject to risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from historical results or
those anticipated, as described in forward-looking statements. Actual results will be affected by general
economic and industry conditions in the end use markets for the Company’s products as well as the impact of
competitive products and pricing, including without limitation the impact of imports. Foreign economic
activity and the relationship of the U. S. dollar to other currencies also affect import levels and exports of U.S.
manufactured products containing parts made from brass rod. The Company’s shipments also will be affected
by its ability to maintain manufacturing operations at its current levels without significant interruption and
successfully implement its capacity expansion program.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company has no financial instruments or agreements that require disclosure pursuant to this item.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Chase Industries Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Chase Industries Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2001 and
2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2001 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the
related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Detroit, Michigan
February 13, 2002
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CHASE INDUSTRIES INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(In thousands)

December 31,

2001 2000
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash eqUIVALENTS ... ...ttt ettt $ 18,206 § 3,993
Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts and claims of $916 and $990
in 2001 and 2000, respectively .. ... .. e 22,044 24,214
INVenIOrIES ..o e 17,491 29,072
Prepaid €Xpenses . ...ttt e 880 1,253
Deferred INCOME taXES . . . o oot it i e e 4,524 3,251
L0 513 g 111 - S P 2,831 21,600
Total CUITEeNt ASSEES .. v vttt et ittt et e e e 65,976 83,383
Net assets of discontinued operations ... ........ ... — 38,161
Property, plant and equipment, net .......... ... ... i 107,644 75,659
Pension intangible asset. .. ... ...t e 668 —
TOtal BSSEES . ottt $174,288  $197,203
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
ACCOUNTES PAYADIE . .. .o $ 19,755 § 23,447
Accrued compensation and benefits. . ... ... 3,907 4,170
Accrued INCOME taXES . ..ot vttt it ettt it et et e ettt e 2,638 2,692
Other accrued liabilities .. ... ... .. 2,126 2,741
Current portion of long-term debt . ....... ... ... . .. — 20,000
Interest payable — Seller's note . . ... . — 8,345
Total current liabilities . ....... ... i i e 28,426 61,395
Environmental and other related liabilities .. ............ i, 8,230 3,960
Deferred INCOmME 1aXeS . .. vt vttt e e 10,693 14,354
Other Habilities. . . ..ottt e 2,553 —
Total lHabilities . ... ... 49,902 79,709
Commitments and CONtingencies .. ......vuuuuirtin et iee e, — —
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.01 par value, 36,310,000 shares authorized; 15,297,745 and
9,135,802 shares issued and outstanding in 2001 and 2000, respectively....... 153 92
Nonvoting common stock, $.01 par value, 12,300,000 shares authorized; 0 and
6,150,118 shares issued and outstanding in 2001 and 2000, respectively....... — 61
Additional paid-in capital .. ... ... 31,980 31,884
Retained earnings. ... ..ot e 93,469 85,457
Accumulated other comprehensive 10ss. . ... .. i (1,216) —
Total stockholders’ equity . ..........coi it 124,386 117,494
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ............ ... ... . ... . ... $174,288  $197,203

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CHASE INDUSTRIES INC.

CONSQOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
(In thousands, except per share information)

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Nt 8188 . ottt e $231,892  $289,918  $272,920
Cost of goods sold (exclusive of depreciation shown separately below) 199,568 244 476 225,724
Lower of cost-or-market inventory writedown ...................... 1,840 — —
Gross Profit ... .ot e 30,484 45,442 47,196
Selling, general and administrative expenses ....................... 6,400 7,159 10,625
Tender offer and other expenses .. ...... ... .. ... ... . 4,397 381 —
Depreciation. . .. ... .t 7,047 6,544 6,219
Operating iNCOME . . ... \vt ettt ettt e 12,640 31,358 30,352
Other non-operating €XPenses . . . ..o vvu et n et iennnas 385 — —
Interest (income) €Xpense, Met .. .....vvtrrer e, (343) 1,409 1,136
Income before income taxes ...t 12,598 29,949 29,216
Provision for income taxes......... e 4,472 10,872 11,103
Income from continuing Operations. ...........c.ooveirieiuneernnn. 8,126 19,077 18,113
Discontinued operations (Note 13):
Income (loss), net of income taxes ............ ... .. ... ... 79 (10) 502
Loss on disposal, net of income taxes............. ... ... ... ... (193)  (36,000) —
Net income (10SS) ... . i $ 8,012 $(16,933) §$ 18,615
Earnings per share — Basic:
Income from continuing Operations. ... .............c.ooeeenennn. $ 053 § 125 § 119
Income from discontinued operations .. ......................... — — 0.03
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations...................... {0.01) (2.36) C—
Netincome (1088) ..........ouviiiiieeeii ... $ 052 § (1.11) § 122
Earnings per share — Diluted:
Income from continuing operations. ..............c.. ... $ 053 $ 124 § 1.18
Income from discontinued operations........................... — — 0.03
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations. ..................... (0.01) (2.34) —
Net income (1088) ...t e et $ 052 § (1.10) § 1.21

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CHASE INDUSTRIES INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands)

Additicnal

Common Paid-In Retained Accumulated Other
Stock Capital Earnings Comprehensive Loss Total
Balances, January 1, 1999 ............ $152 $31,493  § 83,775 $ — $115,420
Netincome ...........cvviernn... —_ — 18,615 — 18,615
Exercised stock options............. — 11 — A 1
Balances, December 31, 1999 ......... $152 $31,504  $102,390 $ — $134,046
Netloss ..o — — (16,933) — (16,933)
Exercised stock options. ............ 1 380 — — 381
Balances, December 31, 2000 ......... $153 $31,884  § 85,457 $ — $117,494
Netincome ...........cccovn... — — 8,012 — 8,012
Other comprehensive loss:
Pension adjustment, net of tax
benefit of $669 . ............ ... — — — (1,216) (1,216)
Exercised stock options............. — 96 — — 96
Balances, December 31, 2001 ......... $153 $31,980  § 93,469 $(1,216) $124,386

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CHASE INDUSTRIES INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999

Operating activities:
Income from continuing operations. ................cc.ovn.... $ 8,126 §$ 19,077 $ 18,113

Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net
cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation. .. ..ot 7,047 6,544 6,219
Deferred income tax eXpense. .........ooviiiiineunnneennn.. 7,228 6,887 1,078
Lower of cost-or-market inventory writedown . ............... .. 1,340 — —
LIFQC liquidation eXpense .. ........coeuurierunnnneneennnnnnn 562 — —
BP Settlement . ... (2,000) — —
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in receivables ....... ... .. ... ... ... ... 2,170 (18) (2,083)
Decrease (increase) in inventories ......................... 9,179 (10,649) 5,144
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses .................... 373 3,181 (3,792)
(Increase) in other assets ......... ... i ieennn. (2,831) (3,718) (8,627)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable .................... (3,992) - (732) 4,415
(Decrease) increase in accrued liabilities ................... (2,884) (2,686) 7,096
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing
OPETALIONS . . . ottt e e e e et et 24,818 17,886 27,563
Discontinued operations:
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations.................... (193)  (36,000) —
Non-cash items from discontinued operations . ................. 193 36,000 —
Cash (used in) provided by discontinued operations ............ (1,515) 3,661 3,446
Net cash (used in) provided by discontinued operations . ... ... (1,515) 3,661 3,446
Net cash provided by operating activities.................. 23,303 21,547 31,009
Investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary ..................... ... ... ... 29,846 — —
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment .................. (39,032)  (20,066) (31,078)
Net cash (used in) investing activities.................... (9,186)  (20,066) (31,078)
Financing activities:
Principal payments on bank term loan . ......................... — (7,000) —
Other, Met. o e e 96 381 11
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ......... 96 (6,619) 11
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .. ............. 14,213 (5,138) (58)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ...................... 3,993 9,131 9,189
Cash and cash equivalents, end of yvear ........................... $ 18,206 $§ 3993 § 9,131
Supplemental disclosures:
Interest pald. . ... ... i e § 269 $§ 475 § 647
Income taxes paid . ....... ...t $ 162 $ 519 § 11,703

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CHASE INDUSTRIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Significant Accounting Policies:

Principles of Consolidation and Organization

The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the consolidated statements of
income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999, include the accounts of Chase Industries Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware corporation, and its

“wholly-owned subsidiary, Chase Brass & Copper Company, Inc. (“CBCC”), a Delaware corporation. All
significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company, through its
wholly-owned subsidiary CBCC, is a leading manufacturer of brass rod.

In fourth quarter 2000, the Company decided to divest Leavitt Tube Company, Inc. (“Leavitt”), a
Delaware corporation. On March 15, 2001, the Company signed a definitive agreement to sell the assets and
operations of Leavitt, including the stock of Holco Corporation (“Holco”), an Illinois corporation and wholly-
owned subsidiary of Leavitt, to privately-held Pinkert Industrial Group, LLC, headquartered in Chicago, for
$31.7 million, before closing costs and fees of $1.9 million. The sale closed on March 30, 2001. Leavitt has
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements as a discontinued operation. For additional discussion
on the discontinued operation, sce Note 13, Discontinued Operations.

On August 24, 1990, the Company acquired, through CBCC, the assets and operations of a Delaware
corporation formerly named Chase Brass & Copper Company, Incorporated (“Old Chase”), pursuant to the
Asset Purchase Agreement (“CBCC Purchase Agreement”) dated May 10, 1990, by and between the
Company, CBCC, Old Chase, BP Exploration (Alaska) Inc. (“BPE”) and The Standard Qil Company (the
“CBCC Acquisition”). BPE and The Standard Oil Company own all the stock of Old Chase. BPE, The
Standard Oil Company and Old Chase are sometimes referred to herein collectively as “BP.” The CBCC
Acquisition was accounted for as a purchase.

On August 30, 1996, the Company acquired, through Leavitt, the assets and operations of the steel tube
division of UNR Industries, Inc., including all the outstanding stock of Holco (the “Leavitt Acquisition™).
Upon consummation of the Leavitt Acquisition, Leavitt continued operations in the manufacture and sale of
structural and mechanical steel tubing and structural pipe. The Leavitt Acquisition was accounted for as a
purchase.

Revenue Recognition

Net sales represent gross sales of brass rod and are recorded at the time of shipment. The gross sales price
of brass rod consists of a metal price charged to the customers and a fabrication price as separate components. -
In addition, approximately 11% of pounds sold by CBCC are made on a “tolling” basis, where the customer
consigns brass scrap to CBCC and is only charged a fabrication price for processing the brass scrap into
finished rod. For tolling sales, the brass metal value is not included in net sales or cost of goods sold.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost-or-market, with cost determined on the last-in, first-out
(LIFO) basis. Inventories have been written down to lower of cost-or-market and such reduced amounts are
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considered cost for subsequent years. During 2001, the Company recorded a non-cash inventory writedown
totaling $1.8 million due to reductions in the brass metal price.

If the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method for determining cost had been used, inventories would have been
approximately $1.0 million lower and $0.4 million higher at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company experienced an inventory reduction in 2001, which resulted in a liquidation of LIFO
inventory quantities carried at higher costs prevailing in prior years. The effect of this non-cash inventory
reduction decreased operating income by $562,000 in 2001. There were no LIFQ liquidations in 2000 or 1999.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is primarily computed by the straight-line
method based on estimated useful lives of the assets. Upon retirement or disposal, the cost and accumulated
depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any gain or loss is included in income. Maintenance and
repair costs are charged to expense as incurred. Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

Cash Flows

For purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid
investments, with a maturity of three months or less when purchased, to be cash equivalents. The carrying
value of these financial instruments approximates market value.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Accounts receivable is the principal financial instrument, which subjects the Company to concentration
of credit risk. Credit is extended based upon an evaluation of the customer’s financial condition and, generally,
collateral is not required. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are somewhat limited due to
the Company’s large number of customers, the diversity of these customers’ businesses and the dispersion of
such customers throughout the continental United States, parts of Canada and Mexico. All sales are
denominated in U. S. dollars. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts and claims based
upon the expected collectibility of all trade receivables.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”), as amended, effective January 1, 2001. This
statement requires that all derivatives be recognized on the balance sheet at fair value. The adoption of SFAS
133, as amended, did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In September 2000, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140, “Account-
ing for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities” (“SFAS 140”). SFAS
140 replaces Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 125, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing
of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities” (“SFAS 125”) and is effective for transfers and
servicing of financial assets and extinguishments of liabilities occurring after June 30, 2001. The adoption of
SFAS 140 during 2001 did not have any effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In July 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business
Combinations” (“SFAS 1417). SFAS 141 requires that all business combinations be accounted for under the
purchase method. Use of the pooling-of-interests method is no longer permitted. The adoption of SFAS 141,
in third quarter 2001, did not have any effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
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In July 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). This statement eliminates the amortization of goodwill, among
other things, and replaces it with an annual goodwill impairment test. The adoption of SFAS 142, effective
January 1, 2002, did not have any effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In June 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, “Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations” (“SFAS 143”). SFAS 143 addresses financial accounting and reporting for
obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement
costs. It applies to legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that result from the
acquisition, construction, development and/or, the normal operation of a long-lived asset, except for certain
obligations of lessees. The adoption of FAS 143, effective January 1, 2002, did not have any effect on the
Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”). SFAS 144 requires that one
accounting model-be used for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale, whether previously held and used or
newly acquired, and broadens the presentation of discontinued operations to include more disposal transac-
tions. The adoption of FAS 144, effective January 1, 2002, did not have any effect on the Company’s financial
position or results of operations.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year information has been reclassified to be comparable to the current year presentation.

2. Invemtories:

Inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

- 2001 2000
Raw materials. ... ..o $ 3,026 $ 5,703
WOTK I PrOGIesS . ..ottt e e e e e e 8,613 11,224
Finished goods .. ... ... .. i 7,218 13,699
: 18,857 30,626
Tolling metal due customers. .. ..ottt (1,366) (1,554)

$17.491 $29,072

3. Property, Plant and Equipment:

Property, plant and equipment and the related depreciable lives consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31, 2001

2001 2000
Land and land improvements (15-20 years)........................ $ 624 $ 635
Buildings and improvements (10-39 years) .......... ... 30,167 19,315
Machinery and equipment (3-25 years) ..., 97,042 78,763
Construction in PrOrESS . .. ... vvttvt e ee e e e 23,529 14,011
151,362 112,728
Accumulated depreciation. .......... . .. i (43,718) (37,069)

$107,644 $ 75,655
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4, Other Assets:

Income tax receivable. At December 31, 2001, a $2.8 million income tax receivable was recorded as a
result of a net operating loss arising from the divestiture of Leavitt that is expected to be carried back to 1999.

Receivable from BP. The receivable from BP, at December 31, 2000, represented the amounts from
claims by the Company against BP under the CBCC Purchase Agreement and a Remediation Agreement (as
hereinafter defined). See Note 11, Commitments and Contingencies, for further discussion of the receivable
from BP. The receivable from BP consisted of the following (in thousands):

Certain environmental remediation CoStS .. ... ..ttt e $16,430
Post-closing adjustments per CBCC Purchase Agreement ........................ 1,292
Environmental-related capital expenditures . ........ ... ... . . i o, 1,518
Other costs and Claims . . ..ot e 2,360
Receivable from BP .. ... . $21,600

5. Fimancing Arrangements:

Debt consisted of the following at December 31, 2000 (in thousands):

B note . o $20,000
Total debt .. .o e 20,000
Current portion of long-term debt. ... .. ... . e 20,000
Long-term debt .. ... $ —
Interest payable — Seller’s note:

Contingent iMEETEST . . .. ..ttt e $ 254

Interest on BP mote. .. ... . 7,429

Accrued interest on BP note . ... e 662
Current interest payable — Seller's note ... .............oviiiiiieiaeia. .. $ 8,345

The Company had no debt outstanding at December 31, 2001.

In connection with the CBCC Acquisition, the Company issued to BP a promissory note in the original
principal amount of $20.0 million as partial consideration for the CBCC Acquisition (the “BP Note™). The
BP Note was recorded at the CBCC Acquisition date at a discount using a 10.4% effective interest rate. The
BP Note initially matured in August 1996, and the Company, at its option, extended the maturity date for
three additional years to August 1999 with interest payable annually at 9.28%. The BP Note contained a
contingent interest payment based upon average Company earnings (defined in the BP Note) for the years
ended December 31, 1990 through 1995. The contingent interest, totaling $254,000 and due August 1996, and
the annual interest of $1,856,000 due August 1997 and 1998, were offset against the receivable from BP. As of
the August 24, 1999, due date of the BP Note, the Company also offset the $1,856,000 in accrued and unpaid
interest due August 24, 1999, and the full principal balance of the BP Note against the receivable from BP and
other amounts claimed by the Company to be owed by BP to the Company as a result of BP’s breach of the
CBCC Purchase Agreement and the Remediation Agreement. However, for financial statement reporting
purposes, pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 125, “Accounting for Transfers and
Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities” (“SFAS 125}, at December 31, 2000, the
Company continued to record the full principal balance of the BP Note as a liability. SFAS 125 requires that
in order to extinguish a liability, the debtor must be legally released from the obligation by either the creditor
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or judicially. The Company maintained the debt on its books and continued to accrue interest at 9.28% until
February 2001, when the matter was settled. See Note 11, Commitments and Contingencies, for further
discussion of the BP Note.

In connection with the Leavitt Acquisition, the Company entered into a credit facility (the “Bank Credit
Facility”) of $100 million agented by PNC Bank, National Association (“PNC Bank”). The Bank Credit
Facility originally included a $60 million term loan (“Term Loan”) and a $40 million revolving credit facility
(“Revolving Credit Facility”). In June 2000, the Company prepaid the remaining $7 million outstanding
under the Term Loan. The Term Loan was repaid three years ahead of schedule. Effective September 8, 1999,
the Company and PNC Bank agreed on an amendment to the Bank Credit Facility which increased the
Revolving Credit Facility by $10 million, to $50 million. On September 1, 2000, the Company and PNC Bank
agreed on an extension to August 30, 2002, on the Revolving Credit Facility.

Advances under the Bank Credit Facility bear interest at alternative variable rates based on certain
percentages, as provided in the agreement, in excess of the lending bank’s prime rate, the Federal funds rate or
LIBOR, with interest payable quarterly or as of the end of each LIBOR borrowing period, whichever is
shorter. No borrowings were outstanding on the Bank Credit Facility at December 31, 2001 and 2000.

The Bank Credit Facility contains certain covenants that, among other things, limit the Company’s ability
to incur additional debt or pay dividends. The covenants also require the Company to maintain a minimum
interest coverage ratio and level of net worth and restrict the Company from exceeding 2 maximum ratio of
debt to cash flow from operations. The Bank Credit Facility also requires the Company to maintain CBCC as
a wholly-owned subsidiary.

The Company capitalized interest expense on major capital projects totaling $261,000 and $384,000 for
the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

6. Retirement Plans:

The Company provides various contributory and noncontributory benefit plans covering substantially all
of its employees, including profit sharing plans, employee savings plans under Section 401 (k) of the Internal
Revenue Code and defined benefit pension plans.

For plans to which the Company contributes, the contributions become fully vested after three vears of
service. The amount of Company contributions to the employee savings plans are based on formulas outiined
in the plans. Company contributions under the noncontributory qualified profit sharing plans are based on a
percentage of eligible employees’ compensation. Contributions to the trust fund of the profit sharing plans are
discretionary, and the Company has the right to amend, modify or terminate the plans, but in no event will any
portion of vested contributions revert to the Company. Charges to expense under the defined contribution
plans, for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, were $481,000, $459,000 and $454,000,
respectively.

The defined benefit retirement plans provide benefits based on a participant’s years of service and stated
monthly benefit amounts based on the date of retirement. The Company’s policy is to make periodic
contributions as required by contract or applicable regulations.
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The following tables provide a reconciliation, for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, of the
changes in the defined benefit retirement plans’ benefit obligations and fair value of assets (in thousands):

December 31,

2001 2000
Change in plan assets:
Fair value at beginning of year............. ... i, $11,791 $11,004
Actual (loss) return on plan assets . ............. it i (1,369) 549
Employer contributions . ........ ... 1,685 548
Benefit payments ... .. ... (331) (310)
Fair value atend of year. ....... .. ... ... . it $11,776 $11,791

December 31,

2001 2660
Change in benefit obligation:
Obligation at beginning of year ............. i, $13,555 $10,697
S EIVICE COSE. vttt ettt e et e e 221 343
Interest COSt ..o vt it e 907 907
Plan amendments. .. ... ..ot e —_ 919
Assumption changes ...........c.. i — 533
Actuarial (gain) 10ss . ... ... (232) 466
Effect of curtailment ... ... ... ... ... . . . . (893) —
Benefit payments .. ...t e (331) (310)
Obligation at end of YEar . ...ttt $13,227 $13,555
December 31,
2001 2000
Underfunded status at end of year......... P $(1,451)  $(1,764)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss ........... ... iy 1,885 184
Unrecognized prior Service COst .. ....ovviiutin et 668 1,572
Additional minimum liability ......... ... ... ... ... o (2,553) —
Accrued benefit cost . ... ... $(1,451) § (8)
Pension intangible asset. . ... ...\ttt $ 668 $  —
Accumulated other comprehensive loss. ............... ... it $(1,885) § —

For the year ended December 31, 2001, the discount rate used in determining the projected benefit
obligation was 7.25% and the expected long-term rate of return on assets ranged from 8.0% to 8.5%. For the
year ended December 31, 2000, the discount rate used in determining the projected benefit obligation ranged
from 7.25% to 7.38% and the expected long-term rate of return on assets ranged from 8.0% to 8.5%.
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The defined benefit retirement plans’ net periodic pension expense was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
SEIVICE COSt & v vttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et e $ 221 $ 343 § 357
Interest Cost. ..o u it 907 507 766
Actual loss (return) onplan assets................ ... ... . .... 1,369 (585) (819)
Net amortization and deferral . .............. .. ... ... L. (2,155)  (207) 119
Curtailment charge .. ........ ... ... .. i S 648 — —
Net periodic pension eXpense ... .........veeeiieeeeenneeeenn.. $ 990 $ 458 § 423
Amount recognized in other comprehensive ............ ... ... $185 $§ — § —

During 2001, a pension plan was curtailed as a result of the divestiture of Leavitt.

7. Income Taxes:

The consolidated provision for income taxes for income from continuing operations consisted of the
following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Current taxes:
Federal . ... o e $(2,818) $ 3,793 § 8823
] 1 £ O 62 192 1,502
Total current taxes (benefit) expense........................ (2,756) 3,985 10,325
Deferred tax expense ...........cooiiiiiiiir s 7,228 6,887 778
Provision for inCome taXes .. .....vvui i, $ 4472 $10,872  $11,103

Deferred income taxes are recorded to reflect the tax consequences on future years of differences between
the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities and were composed of the following (in

thousands):
December 31,
2001 2000
Net current deferred tax asset:
INVEntory reSeIVES ...\ttt it $ 1,434 $ 958
Accrued employee benefits ......... ... ... i 461 510
Allowance for doubtful accounts and claims ........................ 264 248
Capital loss carryforward. . ..., ... .. . . 4,272 4,272
Valuation allowance . .......................... S (4,272) (4,272)
Other, Met ..o 2,365 1,535

$ 4,524 $ 3,251

Net long-term deferred tax liability:
Depreciation and basis differences .. ................. ... ... . ..., $10,638 $ 8,847
Other, net ... 55 5,507

$10,693 $14,354
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The disposal of Leavitt in 2001 generated a capital loss carryforward in the amount of $12.0 million. The
capital loss carryforward was offset with a valuation allowance because the Company’s ability to realize the
amount carried forward was uncertain. The capital loss carryforward expires in 2006.

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes compared with the amounts at the federal statutory tax
rate follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Tax provision at statutory rate of 35% ........................ $4,409  $10,482 $10,226
StAte LAXES « v o vttt e e 41 116 854
Other, met. .. e e 22 274 23
Provision for inCome taxes . .. ...ttt $4,472  $10,872  $11,103
Effective tax rate. .. ..o ot e 35.5% 36.3% 38.0%

8. Stock Options:

In November 1994, the Company implemented its 1994 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “1994 Plan”).
Under the 1994 Plan, as amended, 2,250,000 shares of Common Stock are reserved for options granted or
available for grant. Stock options granted on or before December 31, 2001, become exercisable over five years
from the grant date (subject to acceleration under certain circumstances), expire after ten years and have an
exercise price equal to the closing market price on the grant date.

In May 1997, the Company implemented its 1997 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (the
“Director Plan”) which provides for the granting of stock options to non-employee directors upon their
election to the Board of Directors and, at the election of each non-employee director, in lieu of all or a portion
of their annual retainer and meeting fees. Under the Director Plan, 150,000 shares of Common Stock are
reserved for options granted or available for grant. Stock options granted upon election to the Board become
exercisable in 20% increments on each of the first five anniversaries of the date of grant, have an exercise price
equal to the average closing market price of common stock for the five trading days preceding the date of
election to the Board, and expire after ten years. Stock options granted in lieu of the annual retainer and
meeting fees are granted quarterly at the end of each quarter, become exercisable immediately upon grant,
have an exercise price equal to one-half of the average closing market price of Common Stock for the last five
trading days of the quarter to which the grant relates, and expire after ten years.

In May 1997, the Company implemented its 1997 Executive Deferred Compensation Stock Option Plan
(the “Executive Plan™) which provides for the granting of stock options to eligible executives of the Company
and its subsidiaries who elect to participate in the Executive Plan and receive stock options in lieu of all or a
portion of their annual cash bonus. Under the Executive Plan, 450,000 shares of Common Stock are reserved
for options granted or available for grant. Stock options granted under the Executive Plan are granted on the
date of determination of a participant’s annual cash bonus, become exercisable immediately upon grant and
expire after ten years. The stock options related to each annual bonus amount deferred are granted in four
series of equal numbers of options, with each series attributed to a calendar quarter in the calendar year to
which the bonus relates. Stock options granted in each series have an exercise price equal to one-half of the
average closing market price of Common Stock for the last five trading days of the calendar quarter to which
such series relates.
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The following summary includes stock options granted under all the Plans as of December 31:

2001 2000 1999

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Number Average Number Average Number Average

of Exercise of Exercise of Exercise

Shares Prices Shares Prices Shares Prices

QOutstanding at beginning

ofyear .............. 1,737,478  $10.71 1,666,516  $11.19 1,586,793 $11.42
Granted ............... 47,261 4.78 179,337 6.58 111,583 8.15
Exercised .............. (11,825)  6.67 (50,925) 6.67 (1,425)  6.67
Canceled / Forfeited .... (307,935)  12.47 (57,450)  15.35 (30,435)  11.75

Outstanding at end
ofyear ........... ... 1,464,979  $10.19  1,737478  $10.71 1,666,516  $11.19

Exercisable at end of year 1,280,619 $ 9.93 1,312,268 $ 991 1,044,896 $ 9.05

The following table summarizes information about employee stock options outstanding at December 31,
2001:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Number Exercise Remaining Number Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices Cutstanding Price Life Exercisable Price
$400to$ 867 ... ..., 827,796 $ 6.54 39 767,156  $ 6.40
868to 1517 ......... ... ... 307,183 . 11.59 4.4 238,663 12.00
1734 t0 2167 ... ... ...t 330,000 18.03 3.7 274,800 18.01
400to 2167 ... ... ... 1,464,979 $10.19 4.0 1,280,619  § 9.93

Effective January 1, 1996, the Company adopted the disclosure requirements of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”). However, as
permitted under SFAS 123, the Company has elected to continue accounting for the Plan in accordance with
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 257),
which is an intrinsic value based method of accounting. Had stock option compensation for the Plan been
determined based on the fair value of the stock options on the respective grant dates consistent with the
methodology of SFAS 123, the pro forma reduction to the Company’s net income and basic earnings per share
would have been $746,000, $1,117,000 and $853,000, and $.05, $.07 and $.06 in 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively.

The fair value of each stock option grant was estimated as of the grant date using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following assumptions used for stock options granted in:

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999

Estimated fair value per share of options granted during the year ...... $6.73  $4.78 $4.26
Assumptions:
Annualized dividend yield ............. ... il — — —
Common stock price volatility............. ... .. . i i il 36.2% 38.0% 32.6%
Risk-free rate of return. ... ... ... ... .. i 48% 6.6%  6.0%
Expected option term (in years) ...........oveeiiiiinnn i .. 6 6 6
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9. Common Stock and Earnings per Share:

The following is a reconciliation of the denominator used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings
per share. Average shares are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1599
Basic . ... 15,295,848 15,263,403 15,234,413
Stock options ....... ... 170,888 114,054 101,883
Diluted ...... ... S 15,466,736 15,377,457 15,336,296

All shares of Common Stock and Nonvoting Common Stock are identical, except that holders of
Nonvoting Common Stock have no voting rights. All of the 6,150,118 shares of Nonvoting Common Stock
outstanding at December 31, 2000 were converted into 6,150,118 shares of Common Stock in 2001. As of
December 31, 2001, there were no shares of Nonvoting Common Stock outstanding.

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company had no preferred stock issued or outstanding. In
conjunction with the initial public offering in November 1994, the Company authorized 1,000,000 shares of
preferred stock, none of which has been issued. The preferences and rights of such preferred stock may be
determined by the Board of Directors at any time prior to issuance. Of the 1,000,000 shares of authorized
preferred stock, 36,310 have been designated Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, which are
reserved for issuance pursuant to the rights as described below.

On December 26, 2000, the Board of Directors declared a dividend distribution of one preferred share
purchase right (a “right”) for each share of the Company’s common stock outstanding on January 5, 2001.
Each right would entitle shareholders to purchase from the Company one one-thousandth of a share of
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, $.01 par value, of the Company at a price of $30 per one one-
thousandth of a Preferred Share, subject to adjustment. The rights are not currently exercisable, but would
become exercisable if certain events occurred relating to a person or group acquiring or attempting to acquire
20 percent or more of the outstanding shares of common stock. The rights expire on December 26, 2010,
unless the expiration date is extended or the rights are redeemed or exchanged by the Company earlier.

10. Operating Lease Obligations:

Rental expense under operating leases was $1,384,000, $1,710,000 and $1,575,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. As of December 31, 2001, the minimum rental commit-
ments under long-term operating leases were as follows: $1,317,000 in 2002, $1,257,000 in 2003, $266,000 in
2004, $224,000 in 2005 and $112,000 in 2006.

In December 1997, CBCC entered into a six-year operating lease agreement for certain manufacturing
equipment. There are several options available to the Company during or at the end of the lease term, which
includes renewal of the lease, purchase of the equipment by CBCC or sale of the equipment. In March 2002,
the Company intends to purchase this leased equipment for approximately $10.4 million.

1i. Commitments and Contingencies;

The Company is subject to certain contingent environmental liabilities with respect to CBCC’s facility.
CBCC is in the process of developing a remediation plan for in situ remediation at two areas of its site that are
contaminated with certain volatile organic compounds (“VOCs”). Based on preliminary cost estimates
~ provided by CBCC’s independent environmental consultant, and subject to the development by the consultant
of a remediation plan for these areas of the site and the receipt of bids for the remediation activities required
under such plan, the Company estimates the cost for this project to approximate $3 million, based upon
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capital and operating costs for a period of five years. However, subject to pilot testing and operating
experience, costs may increase or decrease depending on the scale and operating period.

As of December 31, 2000, the reserve for remediation activities was $4.0 million, including $3.0 million
for the in situ remediation plan, $0.6 million for environmental consulting and $0.4 millien for final payments
to be made on remediation activities completed in 2000. In first quarter 2001, as a result of the settlement of
the Company’s litigation with BP discussed below, the Company recorded an additional $4.8 million of
environmental reserves relating to obligations retained by the Company. The Company had remediation
spending of $0.6 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001, including the payment of the
$0.4 million for activities completed in 2000. As a result of the foregoing, the environmental reserve totaled
$8.2 million at December 31, 2001.

Based on currently available data, the Company believes that upon completion of the remediation
activities at the two areas described above, CBCC will have substantially completed the remediation activities
that the Company believes are necessary to address contamination at its site. However, until the completion of
these remedial and associated investigatory activities and approval from the Ohio Environmental Protection
Agency (“EPA”) of CBCC’s activities to remediate this contamination, as well as remediation activities
previously conducted, the Company cannot be certain that further remediation activities will not be required
at its site. To the extent regulatory agencies require additional remediation at those areas of CBCC’s site
where CBCC previously has undertaken remediation activities, or require excavation of soil at the two areas
for which CBCC currently is developing a remediation plan for in situ remediation, as part of the settlement of
litigation with BP in first quarter 2001 discussed below, BP has retained responsibility for such remediation
activities.

The Company believes it will be able to fund cleanup costs related to anticipated future remediation
activities at its manufacturing facility with. cash on hand and borrowings under its existing Bank Credit
Facility. Therefore, the Company does not believe that funding these remediation activities will have a
material effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

Other than as described above, no reserves have been established regarding the aforementioned matters.
Additionally, the Company expects no material impact on its financial position, results of operations or
liquidity as a result of the existence of any other environmental conditions related to CBCC.

CBCC and/or other entities named “Chase Brass & Copper Co.” (which may include Old Chase or
divisions of Old Chase) have been named by governmental agencies and/or private parties as a potentially
responsible party (“PRP”) under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability
Act of 1980 (“CERCLA”) and/or state laws with respect to four sites (and possibly a fifth site). The
Company believes that CBCC has no liability for the cleanup costs related to these sites because (a) such
liability is attributable to an entity that had the same or similar name to that of CBCC, such as a division or a
subsidiary of BP (other than the brass rod division of Old Chase), or (b) such liability arose from acts that
occurred prior to the CBCC Acquisition and, therefore, BP retained such liability under the CBCC Purchase
Agreement and is contractually obligated to indemnify the Company for such liabilities. To the extent CBCC
incurs any cleanup costs with respect to these sites, it intends to enforce its rights under the CBCC Purchase
Agreement to recover such amounts from BP.

On January 7, 1998, a lawsuit entitled Ken-Chas Reserve Company and BP Exploration (Alaska) Ine.
and The Standard Oil Company v. Chase Industries Inc. and Chase Brass & Copper Company, Inc. was filed
in the Court of Common Pleas in Cuyahoga County, Ohio. The Company and BP entered into a Settlement
Agreement and Mutual Release dated February 22, 2001 (the “Settlement Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Company and BP resolved and settled the claims between them that were the subject of the lawsuit.
Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, (1) the Company paid to BP $2 million, (2) the $20 million
promissory note issued to Old Chase as part of the consideration for the CBCC Acquisition (the “BP Note”)
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was deemed paid in full, (3) the Company retained responsibility and financial liability for completing in situ
remediation at the two remaining areas of CBCC’s site where additional remediation activities currently are
contemplated to be required and (4) BP retained financial liability for (A) excavation activities that may be
required by regulatory agencies at these two remaining sites and (B) additional remediation activities that
may be required by regulatory agencies at the remaining areas of CBCC’s site, including areas where
remediation activities previously have been conducted. BP also retained and reaffirmed its obligations under
the CBCC Purchase Agreement to indemnify the Company and CBCC for any claim made against the
Company or CBCC in respect of any liability or obligation of BP which was not assumed by the Company or
CBCC as part of the CBCC Acquisition, including without limitation claims related to off-site contamination
and third party claims.

At the time of the BP settlement, the Company had a $21.8 million receivable from BP, a note payable of
$20.0 million and accrued interest on the BP Note aggregating $8.6 million. In February 2001, these amounts
were settled with a payment of $2.0 million to BP. As a result of the settlement and the obligations retained by
the Company, an additional environmental liability totaling $4.8 million was accrued.

In addition to the above, the Company has outstanding purchase commitments for capital equipment and
installation costs totaling approximately $9.3 million at December 31, 2001.
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12. Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited; in thousands, except per share amounts)

2001*
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Net Sales .ot ti $66,207  $56,846  $56,503  $52,336
GrosS Profit . ... oo $ 8418 § 818 § 7,423 $ 6,457
Income from continuing operations ................ $ 1,624 $ 2469 $ 2490 $ 1,543
Discontinued operations:
Income, netof taxes ........... ... ... . ... .. ... 79 — —_ —_
Loss on disposal, net of taxes . .................. — — — (193)
Net INCOME . . oot et $ 1,703 $ 2469 $ 2490 $ 1,350
Average shares outstanding:
Basic ... 15,290 15,298 15,298 15,298
Diluted ......... .. 15,488 15,478 15,461 15,435
Basic earnings per share:
Continuing operations ...........cccoeviaiinn.. $ o1l $ 016 $ 016 § 0.10
Discontinued operations:
Income, netof taxes ........................ — — — —
Loss on disposal, net of taxes ................. — — — (0.01)
Netincome . .....ooiii i 0.11 0.16 0.16 0.09
Diluted earnings per share:
Continuing operations ................c........ $ 010 $ 016 $ 016 §$ 0.10
Discontinued operations:
Income, netof taxes .............coviuini., 0.01 — _ —_
Loss on disposal, net of taxes ................. — — — (0.01)
Netineome . ..ot 0.11 0.16 ‘0.16 0.09

* The fourth quarter of 2001 included a lower of cost-or-market inventory writedown of $1,840,000.
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2000
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Netsales . ....oooiiiii e $81,635  $73,835 $70,010 $ 64,438
Gross Profit . ... oot $13,346 $12,673 $10981 $ 8,442
Income from continuing operations ............... $ 5813 $5359 §$4250 $ 3,655
Discontinued operations:
Income (loss), netof taxes.................... (136) (428) (89) 643
Estimated loss on disposal, net of taxes ......... (36,000)
Net income (10SS) .. ...vviinriiieiiiieen.ns $ 5677 $4931 § 4161 $(31,702)
Average shares outstanding:
BasiC ..ot e 15,235 15,258 15,276 15,284
Diluted ..... ... 15,347 15,391 15,407 15,365
Basic earnings per share:
Continuing operations ........................ $ 038 $ 035 $ 028 $ 0.4
Discontinued operations:
Income (loss), net of taxes................ (0.01) (0.03) (0.01) 0.04
Estimated loss on disposal, net of taxes ..... — — — (2.35)
Netincome (loss) ...........ccviiiiiinnin.. 0.37 0.32 0.27 (2.07)
Diluted earnings per share:
Continuing operations ...............c.ovee.... $ 038 $ 035 $ 028 § 024
Discontinued operations:
Income (loss), net of taxes.................. (0.01) (0.03) (0.01) 0.04
Estimated loss on disposal, net of taxes ....... — —_ — (2.34)
Net income (10SS) ... ovvvevnernnnn... SR 0.37 0.32 0.27 (2.06)
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1999
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
NEt SAIES oottt e e e $72,744  $66,805 $66,624  $66,747
GTOSS PIOfit . . oottt e $12,869 $11,772 $11,080 $11,475
Income from continuing operations ................ $ 5238 §$ 4553 §$ 4066 $ 4256
Income (loss) discontinued operations, net of taxes .. (826) 504 226 598
Net INCOME .« o o vt ettt e e $ 4412 $ 5057 $ 4292 $ 4,854
Average shares outstanding:
Basic ... 15,234 15,234 15,234 15,235
Diluted ... 15,357 15,326 15,324 15,335
Basic earnings per share:
Continuing operations ......................... $ 034 $ 030 S 027 § 028
Discontinued operations:

Income (loss), net of taxes................... (0.05) 0.03 0.01 0.04
Net income . . ..o v e e 0.29 0.33 0.28 0.32
Diluted earnings per share:

Continuing operations ......................... $ 034 §$ 030 $ 027 $ 0.8

Discontinued operations:
Income (loss), net of taxes........... e (0.05) 0.03 0.01 0.04

Net inCOme ... oovte i 0.29 0.33 0.28 0.32

13, Discontinued Operations

In fourth quarter 2000, the Company decided to divest Leavitt. On March 15, 2001, the Company signed
a definitive agreement to sell the assets and operations of Leavitt to privately-held Pinkert Industrial Group,
LLC, headquartered in Chicago. The sale closed on March 30, 2001. The Company received $31.7 million in
cash, before closing costs and fees of $1.9 million. In fourth quarter 2000, the Company recorded an estimated
loss on the sale of Leavitt of $36.0 million, including income tax benefit of $11.3 million. In fourth quarter
2001, the Company recorded an additional $0.2 million loss on sale of Leavitt, which resulted from the
additional costs associated with certain post-closing liabilities maintained by the Company. The disposal of the
assets and operations of Leavitt represented the disposal of a business segment. Consequently, the consoli-
dated financial statements reflect Leavitt as a discontinued operation.

The operating results of discontinued operations were as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Nt 8ales ..o i e $23,251  $118,787  $127,792
Income (loss) before taxes ......... ... . oo $ 123 § (16) $ 809
Loss on disposal .......... .. ...t (300) (47,300) —
Provision for income (taxes) benefit ...................... 63 11,306 (307)
Net income (10SS) ...t i $ (114) $(36,010) § 502
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A portion of the Company’s interest expense has been allocated to discontinued operations based on the

debt outstanding on Leavitt’s balance sheet. Income taxes on results of the discontinued operations have been
allocated using the same overall rate incurred by the Company in each year presented.

As of December 31, 2000, the assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations were as follows (in
thousands):

Assets:
Receivables, net. . ... $ 7,521
InVeNtOries, Mt .. @\ttt ettt e e 29,194
Other CUITENT SSETS . . v vttt ettt ettt e ettt ettt 815
Property, plant and equipment, net.......... ... ... 56,040
Impairment of discontinued operations. .......... ... ... i (36,000)
T 888 . . o ottt e e e 2,637
Total ASSEIS .« oottt 60,207
Liabilities:
Accounts payable ... ... e 9,101
Accrued Habilities . .. ... oo e 5,006
Noncurrent Habilities ... ..o vt e 7,939
Total Habilities. . . ..o e 22,046
Net assets of discontinued operations. ........... ..ttt $ 38,161

ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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PART IiI

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

General

The Board of Directors currently consists of one person who is an employee of the Company and seven
persons who are not employees of the Company (i.e., outside directors). Set forth below are the names, ages
and positions of the Company’s current directors and executive officers.

Name Age Position (s)

John H. Steadman .................. B President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director of the Company; President, Chief
Operating Officer and Director of CBCC*

Todd A. Slater. .............. ..., 38  Chief Financial Officer, Vice President
Secretary of the Company; Chief Financial
Officer and Director of CBCC*

Martin V. Alonzo ............ ... ... ..., 70  Director of the Company
Raymond E. Cartledge .................. 72 Director of the Company
Charles E. Corpening . .................. 36  Director of the Company
John R. Kennedy ...................... 71 Director of the Company
Robert B. Kennedy .. ................... 69  Director of the Company
Thomas F. McWilliams ................. 59  Director of the Company
William R. Toller ...................... 71  Director of the Company

* Chase Brass & Copper Company, Inc. (“CBCC”), is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Compaﬁy through
which the Company conducts its operations.

The current term of office of each director will expire at the next annual meeting. At the next annual
meeting, successors to the directors will be elected to serve until the next annual meeting of stockholders and
until their successors are elected and qualified. Executive officers of the Company are appointed by and serve
at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

There are no family relationships among the directors or executive officers and there are no arrangements
or understandings between any director or executive officer and any other person pursuant to which his
selection as a director or an executive officer was made, except that the Company’s existing bank credit facility
requires Mr. Alonzo to continue to serve on the Board of Directors as long as he is physically able to do so.

Set forth below is certain biographical information regarding the executive officers and directors of the
Company.

John H. Steadman. Mr. Steadman has served as President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQO”) of
the Company since September 2001 and as a director of the Company since October 2001. Also since
October 2001, he has served as President and as a director of LTC Reserve Corp. Mr. Steadman has also
served as President and Chief Operating Officer of CBCC since January 2000. He joined CBCC in
October 1999 and served as Executive Vice President until being appointed President and Chief Operating
Officer. Prior to joining CBCC, Mr. Steadman was employed by Noranda Aluminum, Inc. from 1979 to 1999.
Over the course of his career with Noranda, Mr. Steadman served as president of its aluminum road wheel
subsidiary, American Racing Equipment, from 1996 through 1999 and as president of its rolled products
subsidiary, Norandal USA, from 1989 through 1996. Prior to that he held various administrative and financial
positions with Noranda Aluminum, R. J. Reynolds and RCA Corporation.
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Todd A. Slater. Mr. Slater has served as Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), Vice President and
Secretary of the Company since October 2001. Also since October he has served as Vice President and CFO
of CBCC. He joined the Company in 1992 as Controller of CBCC. Prior to joining CBCC, Mr. Slater was
employed by Price Waterhouse, a predecessor of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, from 1986 to 1992.

Martin V. Alonzo. Mr. Alonzo has served as a member of the Board since the Company began
operations in August 1990. Mr. Alonzo served as Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company from August 1990 until his retirement in September 2001. From 1987 until 1990,
Mr. Alonzo pursued entrepreneurial opportunities, which included advising the Maxxam Group in connection
with its acquisition of Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and, in conjunction with Citicorp Venture Capital Ltd.
(“CVC”), analyzing prospective acquisitions, primarily of metals related companies. From 1967 until 1987,
Mr. Alonzo was employed by AMAX, Inc., a large mining and integrated aluminum company, in various
. capacities, including senior vice president and president — industrial minerals division, executive vice
president and president — specialty and light metals operations and, from 1984 until July 1987, executive vice
president and chief financial officer. Mr. Alonzo also served as a director of Alumax Inc., an integrated
aluminum company, from 1974 to 1987 and currently serves as a trustee of the IPO Plus Aftermarket Mutual
Fund.

Raymond E. Cartledge. Mr. Cartledge was elected as a director of the Company in May 1995.
Mr. Cartledge served as chairman of the board and chief executive officer of Union Camp Corporation, a
paper and packaging company, from 1986 until 1994, and as chairman of the board of Savannah Foods &
Industries, Inc., until his retirement in 1997. Mr. Cartledge also serves as a director of each of UCAR
International, Inc., Delta Air Lines Inc., Sunoco, Inc. and Formica Corporation.

Charles E. Corpening. Mr. Corpening was elected as a director of the Company in May 1995. Since
1994, Mr. Corpening has been a vice president of CVC. Mr. Corpening also serves as a vice president of Court
Square Capital Limited (“CSCL”), an affiliate of CVC to whom CVC transferred all of its shares of capital
stock of the Company on December 12, 2000. Since December 2000, Mr. Corpening also has served as a vice
president and director of Chase Acquisition Corporation (“CAC”), an affiliate of CVC and CSCL (see
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” below). Prior to joining CVC, Mr.
Corpening was a vice president of Roundtree Capital Corp., a private investment firm based in Stamford,
Connecticut from 1990 until 1994, Mr. Corpening was employed in the merchant banking division of the
Rockefeller Group from 1988 until 1990 and worked in the mergers and acquisitions group of PaineWebber,
Inc. from January 1987 until December 1988. Mr. Corpening also serves as a director of Royster-Clark, Inc.

John R. Kennedy. Mr. John Kennedy was elected as a director of the Company in November 1994.
From 1975 until his retirement in 1996, Mr. Kennedy served as president and chief executive officer of Federal
Paper Board Company, Inc. Mr. Kennedy also serves as a director of each of International Paper Company,
Holcim (US) Inc. and Modis Professional Services, Inc.

Robert D. Kennedy. Mr. Robert Kennedy was appointed as a director of the Company in Febru-
ary 2000. Mr. Kennedy served as chairman and chief executive officer of Union Carbide Corporation from
1986 until 1995, Mr. Kennedy also served as chief executive officer of UCAR International Inc. from
March 1998 until July 1998, and as chairman of UCAR International from March 1998 until Septem-
ber 1999. Mr. Kennedy also serves as a director of each of Sunoco, Inc., KMart Corporation, International
Paper Company and Hercules Incorporated.

Thomas F. McWilliams. Mr. McWilliams has served as a director of the Company since August 1990,
and served as Vice President of the Company from July 1993 until September 1994. Since 1983,
Mr. McWilliams has been affiliated with CVC and has served as vice president and a managing director of
CVC as well as a member of CVC’s investment committee. Mr. McWilliams also serves as a vice president
and managing director of CSCL and since December 2000 has served as secretary, treasurer and a director of
CAC. Mr. McWilliams also serves as a director of each of MMI Products, Inc., Royster-Clark, Inc., Ergo
Science Corporation, Strategic Industries, Inc., and WCI Communities.
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William R. Toller. Mr. Toller was elected as a director of the Company in October 1996. From
October 1990 until July 1996, Mr. Toller served as chairman and chief executive officer of Witco Corporation,
a specialty chemical company. Mr. Toller currently serves as a director of Commodore Separation Technolo-
gies, Inc., FusePlus, Inc. and Commodore Applied Technologies, Inc. Mr. Toller also is a member of the
Board of Trustees for the International Center for the Disabled in New York City and the Whitehead Institute
for Biomedical Research in Boston, Massachusetts.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Board Compensation

Cash Compensation. Each member of the Board of Directors who is not an employee or officer of the
Company or any subsidiary of the Company receives an annual retainer of $15,000 for service as a director,
plus $1,000 for each meeting of the Board of Directors attended and $500 for each meeting of a committee of
the Board of Directors attended. In addition, each non-employee Director is reimbursed for all ordinary and
necessary expenses incurred in attending any meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee of the Board
of Directors. Employees of the Company who also serve as members of the Board of Directors do not receive
any additional compensation for service as a director, but are reimbursed for related expenses. Each of
Messrs. Raymond Cartledge, Robert Kennedy, John Kennedy and William Toller served on a Subcommittee
of the Board of Directors in 2001. The Subcommittee was formed in January 2001 for the purpose of
evaluating a proposed business combination transaction and other strategic alternatives for the Company, and
was disbanded in October 2001. The Subcommittee held twenty meetings in 2001 and each Subcommittee
member was paid $1,000 for each Subcommittee meeting attended.

Stock Option Awards. Each non-employee Director is granted, on the date such person is elected or
appointed as a director, stock options to purchase 7,500 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price equal to
the average closing price of the Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant (the “Average Fair Market Value”). All stock options granted to
non-employee Directors vest in equal proportions on each of the first five anniversaries of the date of grant,
provided that the person has been a director of the Company continuously through that date. Non-employee
Directors reelected to successive terms do not receive additional grants of stock options upon any such
reelection. Prior to May 14, 1997, these grants of stock options were made pursuant to the Company’s 1994
Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “1994 Incentive Plan”). As of May 14, 1997, all such awards are made
pursuant to the Company’s 1997 non-employee Director Stock Option Plan (as amended, the “Director Stock
Option Plan”).

, Also, pursuant to the Director Stock Option Plan, each non-employee Director may elect to defer all or a
portion (in 25% increments) of such director’s annual cash retainer for a calendar year. If a non-employee
Director elects to defer all or a portion of his or her annual retainer, the non-employee Director also may elect
to defer the total amount of the fees that such director is entitled to receive for attending board and committee
meetings, and receive, instead, stock options equal to the value of such deferred retainer and meeting fees.
Stock options granted in lieu of a director’s deferred retainer and meeting fees will be granted as of the last day
of each calendar quarter (the date on which the meeting fees for such quarter and the quarterly payments of
the annual cash retainer are paid, in arrears) in the year to which the election relates. The number of stock
options granted each quarter is determined by dividing the sum of (i) 25% of the total annual retainer amount
deferred and (ii) if meeting fees have been deferred, the total amount of meeting fees to which the non-
employee Director is entitled for such calendar quarter, by 50% of the Average Fair Market Value (as defined
above) for the last five trading days of that calendar quarter, and also will have an exercise price equal to 50%
of that Average Fair Market Value. Each stock option granted to the non-employee Directors in lieu of their
annual retainer and, if applicable, meeting fees vests fully and is exercisable immediately upon grant. If a non-
employee Director is elected or appointed during a calendar year and elects to receive stock options under the
Director Stock Option Plan in lieu of such director’s pro rated annual cash retainer for the remainder of such
calendar year, the numerator of the formula will be adjusted to reflect the portion of the deferred annual cash
retainer attributable to each remaining calendar quarter (or portion thereof) in the year to which any such
initial election relates.
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In 2001, Mr. Toller elected to defer 50% of his annual retainer under the Director Stock Option Plan,
while each of Messrs. Alonzo (for the period subsequent to his retirement as an executive officer), Cartledge,
Corpening, John Kennedy, Robert Kennedy and McWilliams elected to defer 100% of his annual retainer
pursuant to the Director Stock Option Plan. For 2002, Mr. Toller has elected to defer 50% of his annual
retainer and each of Messrs. Alonzo, Cartledge, John Kennedy and McWilliams has elected to defer 100% of
his annual retainer pursuant to the Director Stock Option Plan. In 2001, each of Messrs. Alonzo (for the
period subsequent to his retirement as an executive officer), Corpening, John Kennedy and McWilliams also
elected to defer his meeting fees pursuant to the Director Stock Option Plan. For 2002, each of
Messrs. Alonzo, John Kennedy and McWilliams have elected to defer his meeting fees pursuant to the
Director Stock Option Plan

The Director Stock Option Plan provides that, upon a “change in control” of the Company, (1) all
outstanding stock options that are not exercisable will become immediately and fully vested and exercisable in
full and (2) in the discretion of the Compensation Committee, each holder of a stock option will be granted a
corresponding stock appreciation right. For the definition of “change in control” as used in the Director Stock
Option Plan, see “Other Change in Control Arrangements — Stock Option Plans” below.

Compensation of Executive Officers

The compensation paid by the Company to its executive officers is administered by the Compensation
Committee and generally consists of base salaries, annual cash incentives, equity incentives in the form of
stock options, contributions to Company-sponsored 401 (k) plans and miscellaneous perquisites.

The following table sets forth the total compensation awarded to, earned by or paid by the Company to
each person who served as Chief Executive Officer during 2001, to each person who served as an executive
officer (other than the Chief Executive Officer) of the Company whose total cash compensation exceeded
$100,000 for services rendered during 2001 and to each person for whom disclosure would have been required
if the person had been serving as an executive officer of the Company as of December 31, 2001 (the “Named
Executive Officers”).

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Annual Compensation(1)

Other Annual Securities All Other
Compensation Underlying Compensation
Name and Principal Position Year Salary($) Bonus($) ($)(2) Options ($) (3)
John H. Steadman (4).......... 2001 240,000 140,000 — 0 19,718
President, Chief Executive 2000 225,000 28,750(5) — 18,785(5)  124,725(6)
Officer and Director; President, 1999 50,336 20,000 — 50,000(7) 230
Chief Operating Officer and
Director of CBCC .
Todd A. Slater (8) ............. 2001 118,325 47,500 — 0 12,042
Chief Financial Officer 2000 103,750 45,000 — 10,000(7) 10,720
1999 96,750 45,000 — 0 10,162
Martin V. Alonzo (9) .......... 2001 284,486 350,000 —_— 1,322(10) 40,562
Former Chairman of the Board, 2000 350,000 0 — 0 48,256
President and Chief Executive 1999 350,000 (11) — 59,392(11) 51,443
Officer
Michael T. Segraves (12) ....... 2001 142,647 90,000 — 0 566,525(13)
Former Chief Financial Officer 2000 183,000 90,000 — 20,000(7) 19,525
1999 175,250 80,000 — 0 19,700

(1) No restricted stock awards were granted to any Named Executive Officer during the period reported.

(2) While the named executive officers may have received certain perquisites in 2001, such perquisites did
not exceed the lesser of $50,000 or 10% of such executive’s salary and bonus.
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(3) The amounts disclosed in this column for 2001 include:

(i) premiums and imputed income paid by the Company with respect to term life insurance for the
benefit of Messrs. Alonzo, Steadman, Slater and Segraves in the amounts of $10,712, $1,180, $201
and $1,271, respectively;

(ii) contributions by the Company to the Company’s 401 (k) Profit Sharing Plan for the benefit of each
of Messrs. Steadman and Slater in the amounts of $8,500 and $8,291, respectively;

(ili) contributions by the Company to the Company’s 401(k) Savings and Investment Plan for the
benefit of Messrs. Alonzo, Steadman, Slater and Segraves in the amounts of $5,100, $5,100,
$3,550 and $519, respectively; and

(iv) contributions by the Company to the Company’s supplemental retirement plans for the benefit of
Messrs. Alonzo and Steadman in the amounts of $24,750 and $4,938, respectively.

(4) Mr. Steadman was elected President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company in September 2001
and was appointed to the Board of Directors in October 2001.

(5) Mr. Steadman was awarded a $115,000 cash bonus for his services in 2000. Pursuant to the Executive
Stock Option Plan, Mr. Steadman elected to forego 75% of such cash bonus and receive, in lieu thereof,
options to purchase an aggregate of 18,785 shares of Common Stock.

(6) Includes $101,881 to reimburse Mr. Steadman for relocation expenses he incurred in connection with
his employment by CBCC.

(7) Options were awarded pursuant to the 1994 Incentive Plan.

(8) Mr. Slater was elected Chief Financial Officer of the Company on October 26, 2001 to succeed
Mr. Segraves, who resigned October 2, 2001.

(9) Mr. Alonzo served as Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company from
August 1990 until his retirement in September 2001.

(10) Options were granted pursuant to the Director Stock Option Plan, in which Mr. Alonzo became eligible
to participate upon his retirement as President and Chief Executive Officer on September 1, 2001,

(11) Mr. Alonzo was awarded a $250,000 cash bonus in 2000 for his services in 1999. Pursuant to the
Company’s 1997 Executive Deferred Compensation Stock Option Plan (the “Executive Stock Option
Plan™), Mr. Alonzo elected to forego 100% of such cash bonus and receive, in lieu thereof, options to
purchase an aggregate of 59,392 shares of Common Stock.

(12) Mr. Segraves resigned from the Company as of October 2, 2001.

(13) Includes $564,735 paid to Mr. Segraves by the Company in connection with his resignation in
October 2001. A partial payment of $125,000 was made to Mr. Segraves in 2001. The remaining amount
was paid in 2002.

The following table sets forth options granted during 2001 to the Named Executive Officers. No stock
appreciation rights were granted during 2001.

OPTION/SAR GRANTS IN LAST FISCAL YEAR

% of Total

Opticns/SARs Market
Granted to Price on Grant Date
Employees in Exercise or Date Present
Options/SARs Fiscal Base Price of Grant Expiration Value
Name Granted (#) Year(1) ($/Share) $/Share Date %) (2)
Martin V. Alonzo ........ 280(3) —% 447 8.88(4) 09/30/11 1,612
1,042(3) —% 4.56 9.15(5) 12/31/11 6,273

(1) With the exception of Mr. Steadman’s stock option grants that were reported for fiscal year 2000 but
issued in fiscal year 2001, no stock options were granted to employees in fiscal year 2001.
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(2) The grant date present value was determined by using a modified Black-Scholes pricing model with the
following assumptions and adjustment: (i) stock price volatility of 36.1903%, calculated using daily stock
prices of the Company for the period of years and prior to the grant date equal to the expected term of the
option as specified in clause (iv) below; (ii) risk-free rates of return from 4.26% to 4.65%, representing
the interest rates on 6 year U.S. Treasury securities on the date of grant; (iii) no dividends paid on the
Company’s Common Stock consistent with current Company practice; and (iv) an assumed exercise date
of 6 years from the date of grant. The Company’s use of this model should not be construed as an
endorsement of its accuracy. Whether the model’s assumptions will prove to be accurate cannot be known
as of the date of this Form 10-K. The ultimate value of the options, if any, will depend on the future value
of the Company’s Common Stock, which cannot be forecast with reasonable accuracy, and the optionees’
investment decisions.

(3) Options were granted pursuant to the Director Stock Option Plan, in which Mr. Alonzo became eligible
to participate upon his retirement as President and Chief Executive Officer on September 1, 2001.

(4) The grant date market price reported represents the closing market price of the Common Stock on
September 28, 2001, the last trading day prior to the actual date of grant.

(5) The grant date market price reported represents the closing market price of the Common Stock on
December 31, 2001, the actual date of grant.

The following table sets forth information with respect to options to purchase the Company’s Common
Stock held by the Named Executive Officers as of the end of fiscal year 2001. No options or stock appreciation
rights were exercised by such persons during 2001.

AGGREGATED OPTION EXERCISES IN 2001
AND 2001 YEAR-END OPTION VALUES

Number of Value of Unexercised
Unexercised In-the-Money
Shares Options Options
Acquired on Value at December 31, 2001 (#) at December 31, 2001 (1)

Name Exercise (#) Realized ($) Exercisable/Unexercisable Exercisable/Unexercisable
Mr. Alonzo . .............. 0 N/A 566,476/0 1,297,810/0
Mr. Steadman ............ 0 N/A 38,785/30,000 94,877/13,875
Mr. Slater ................ 0 N/A 16,400/11,600 23,370/4,200
Mr. Segraves ............. 0 N/A 80,000/0 0/0

(1) Based on the closing price ($9.15) of the Company’s Common Stock on December 31, 2001, as reported
in the New York Stock Exchange composite transactions listing.

Employment Agreement and Change-in-Contrel Arrangements
Employment Agreement

John H. Steadman. CBCC and John H. Steadman are parties to an employment agreement, dated as of
September 1, 2001, and amended as of February 14, 2002, which is effective through December 31, 2002, and
automatically will be extended on a year-to-year basis unless terminated by CBCC or Mr. Steadman on
60 days’ notice before the start of the following year. The employment agreement provides for an annual salary
of $280,000, and is subject to future annual increases at the discretion of the Compensation Committee.
Mr. Steadman is also entitled to cash bonuses at the discretion of the Compensation Committee.

Under the employment agreement, if Mr. Steadman’s employment is terminated in certain circum-
stances, including a termination by the Company in violation of the agreement or a termination by
Mr. Steadman for good reason (as defined in the employment agreement), the Company will be required to
pay Mr. Steadman a severance payment in an amount equal to Mr. Steadman’s then current base salary and
continue to provide medical and dental insurance coverage for one year. If Mr. Steadman’s employment is
terminated by the Company in violation of the agreement or by Mr. Steadman for good reason within one year
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after a “change of control” of the Company, Mr. Steadman will be entitled to receive continued medical and
dental insurance coverage for two years and a severance payment equal to two times the sum of
(1) Mr. Steadman’s base salary immediately prior to the change of control (or, if greater, Mr. Steadman’s
base salary at the time of his termination or, if applicable, at the time of the event giving rise to his resignation
for good reason), plus (2) the bonus awarded to Mr. Steadman for the calendar year prior to the change of
control or, if such bonus has not yet been determined, the prior calendar year (or, if greater, the average of the
bonuses awarded to Mr. Steadman for the two calendar years ended prior to the change of control or, if
bonuses for the most recent calendar year have not been determined as of the date of the change of control,
the average of the bonuses awarded to Mr. Steadman for the two calendar vears immediately preceding the
calendar year in which the change of control occurs); provided that such amount plus the value of any other
compensation subject to Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) shall
not exceed $100 less than 3.00 times Mr. Steadman’s annualized includable compensation (determined within
the meaning of Code). If Mr. Steadman’s employment is terminated by Mr. Steadman other than for good
reason within one year after a ““change of control” of the Company, Mr. Steadman will be entitled to receive
continued medical and dental insurance coverage for one year and a severance payment equal to the sum of
(1) and (2) described in the preceding sentence.

Under Mr. Steadman’s employment agreement, a “change of control” occurs in any of the following
situations: (1) a person other than the Company, certain companies affiliated with the Company, benefit plans
of the Company or of certain companies affiliated with the Company or of a company with the same
ownership as the Company acquires 50% or more of the voting power of the Company’s outstanding voting
securities; (2) a person described in clause (1) announces a tender offer for 50% or more of the Company’s or
CBCC’s outstanding voting securities and the Board of Directors approves or does not oppose the tender offer,
provided an event described in clause (1), (3) or (4) occurs within one year of such tender offer; (3) the
Company or CBCC merges or consolidates with another corporation or partnership, or the Company’s or
CBCC'’s stockholders approve such a merger or consolidation, other than mergers or consolidations in which
the Company’s or CBCC’s voting securities are converted into securities having the majority of the voting
power in the surviving entity or its parent; (4) the Company or CBCC liquidates or sells all or substantially all
its assets, or the Company’s or CBCC’s stockholders approve such a liquidation or sale, except sales to
corporations having substantially the same ownership as the Company or CBCC; (5) the Company ceases to
own at least a majority of the voting securities of CBCC, other than pursuant to a transaction in which all of
the voting securities of CBCC (or a company into which it is merged) which are not owned by the Company
are owned by the Company’s stockholders in the same proportion as their ownership of the Company; or
(6) members of the “Incumbent Board” cease to constitute a majority of the Board of Directors. “Incumbent
Board” is defined as current members of the Board of Directors and other individuals who become directors
and whose election, appointment or nomination for election to the Board of Directors was approved by a
majority of the members of the Board of Directors then comprising the Incumbent Board, excluding (A) any
board members that are employees, officers or directors of CVC or affiliates of CVC (the “Citigroup Group”)
or (B) any board members nominated by such persons described in (A) or any member of the Citigroup
Group. The Company also has agreed to reimburse Mr. Steadman for reasonable legal fees and costs that
Mr. Steadman incurs in connection with the resolution in Mr. Steadman’s favor of any dispute or controversy
under his employment agreement.

Change-in-Control Arrangements
Stock Option Plans.

The 1994 Incentive Plan provides for the granting of incentive awards to the Company’s officers and
employees in the form of stock options, stock appreciation rights and restricted stock. Pursuant to the 1994
Incentive Plan, upon a “change in control” of the Company, (1) in the discretion of the Compensation
Committee, each holder of a stock option will be granted a corresponding stock appreciation right, (2) all
outstanding stock appreciation rights and stock options will become immediately and fully vested and
exercisable in full, and (3) the restriction period on any restricted stock award will be accelerated and the
restrictions will expire. In addition, if a “change in control” occurs in connection with a merger or
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consolidation of the Company pursuant to which the Company is not the surviving corporation, then each
holder of a stock option or stock appreciation right is entitled to receive (upon payment of the exercise price, if
applicable) the same consideration to which such holder would have been entitled had they exercised such
stock option or stock appreciation right immediately prior to such transaction.

The Executive Stock Option Plan permits eligible employees to receive, in lieu of all or a portion of their
annual cash bonus, immediately exercisable stock options with a value calculated based on the value of the
bonus amount deferred. Under the Executive Stock Option Plan, each eligible employee may elect to forego
all or a portion (in 25% increments) of such employee’s annual cash bonus for a calendar year (which bonus
will be determined after that calendar year end) and receive, in lieu thereof, stock options equal to the value of
the foregone cash bonus. Stock options granted in lieu of an employee’s foregone cash bonus are granted as of
the date the annual cash bonus for the year to which an election relates is determined. The stock options
related to an annual bonus amount forgone are granted in four series, with the number of stock options granted
with respect to each series determined by dividing 25% of the cash bonus amount by 50% of the average
closing price of the Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange for the last five trading days of each
calendar quarter (in each case, the “Average Quarter-End Price”) in the calendar year to which the bonus
relates, with the stock options calculated for each calendar quarter representing one series. Stock options
granted in each series have an exercise price equal to 50% of the Average Quarter-End Price for the calendar
quarter to which such series relates. Stock options granted under the Executive Stock Option Plan vest fully
and immediately upon grant. The Executive Stock Option Plan provides that, upon a “change in control” of
the Company, in the discretion of the Compensation Committee each holder of a stock option may be granted
a corresponding stock appreciation right. In addition, if a “change in control” occurs in connection with a
merger or consolidation of the Company pursuant to which the Company is not the surviving corporation, then
each holder of a stock option or stock appreciation right is entitled to receive {(upon payment of the exercise
price, if applicable) the same consideration to which such holder would have been entitled had they exercised
such stock option or stock appreciation right immediately prior to such transaction.

The Director Stock Option Plan provides for the granting of stock options to non-employee Directors of
the Company upon their election to the Board of Directors and, at the election of each non-employee Director,
in lieu of all or a portion of the non-employee Director’s annual retainer and in lieu of all (but not just a
portion of) cash payments payable by the Company to the non-employee Director as compensation for
attending meetings of the Board of Directors and committees thereof. The Director Stock Option Plan
provides that, upon a ‘“‘change in control” of the Company, (1) all outstanding stock options become
immediately and fully vested and exercisable in full and (2) in the discretion of the Compensation
Committee, each holder of a stock option may be granted a corresponding stock appreciation right. In
addition, if a “change in control” occurs in connection with a merger or consolidation of the Company
pursuant to which the Company is not the surviving corporation, then each holder of a stock option or stock
appreciation right is entitled to receive (upon payment of the exercise price, if applicable) the same
consideration to which such holder would have been entitled had they exercised such stock option or stock
appreciation right immediately prior to such transaction. See “Management Compensation — Board
Compensation — Stock Option Awards” above.

In general, under each of the 1994 Incentive Plan, the Executive Stock Option Plan and the Director
Stock Option Plan, a “change in control” of the Company occurs in any of the following four situations: (1) a
person other than (a) the Company, certain companies affiliated with the Company, benefit plans of the
Company or of certain companies affiliated with the Company or of a company with the same ownership as
the Company, (b) CVC or (c) certain affiliates of CVC, acquires 50% or more of the voting power of the
Company’s outstanding voting securities; (2) a person described in clause (1) announces a tender offer for
30% or more of the Company’s outstanding voting securities and the Board of Directors approves or does not
oppose the tender offer, provided an event described in clause (1), (3) or (4) occurs within one year of such
tender offer; (3) the Company merges or consolidates with another corporation or partnership, or the
Company’s stockholders approve such a merger or consolidation, other than mergers or consolidations in
which the Company’s voting securities are converted into securities having the majority of voting power in the
surviving company; or (4) the Company liquidates or sells all or substantially all its assets, or the Company’s
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stockholders approve such a liquidation or sale, except sales to corporations having substantially the same
ownership as the Company.

Change of Control Agreement

The Company and Todd A. Slater are parties to a change of control agreement which is effective through
September 25, 2002 or, if a “change of control” of the Company occurs, the first anniversary of the change of
control. If Mr. Slater’s employment is terminated by the Company without cause (as defined in Mr. Slater’s
change of control agreement) or by Mr. Slater for good reason (as defined in Mr. Slater’s change of control
agreement) within one year following a “change of control” of the Company, the Company will be required to
pay to Mr. Slater a lump sum severance payment in an amount equal to two times the sum of (1) Mr. Slater’s
then current base salary (or, if greater, Mr. Slater’s base salary at the time of the change of control or, if
applicable, the occurrence of the event giving rise to Mr. Slater’s right to terminate his employment for good
reason)} and (2) Mr. Slater’s bonus for the calendar year prior to the change of control, or, if bonuses for such
year have not been determined, for the prior calendar year (or, if greater, the average of Mr. Slater’s bonus for
the two calendar years prior to the change of control, or, if bonuses for the most recent calendar year have not
been determined, the average of Mr. Slater’s bonus for the two calendar years prior to the calendar year prior
to the change of control), and to maintain for two years health insurance for the benefit of Mr. Slater and his
family as in effect prior to the termination of his employment. For purposes of Mr. Slater’s change of control
agreement, a “change of control” occurs in any of the situations that constitutes a change of control as
described above under “Employment Agreement — John H. Steadman.” The Company also has agreed to
reimburse Mr, Slater for reasonable legal fees and costs that Mr. Slater incurs in connection with the
resolution in Mr. Slater’s favor of any dispute or controversy under his change of control agreement.

Severance Pay Plan

The Chase Industries Inc. Severance Pay Plan (the “Severance Plan™) provides severance benefits to
certain employees of the Company and its subsidiaries if their employment is terminated during the one year
period beginning on the first anniversary of a “change of control” (the “Post-Protection Period”). For
purposes of the Severance Plan, a “change of control” occurs in any of the situations that constitutes a change
of control as described above under “Employment Agreement — John H. Steadman.” Pursuant to the
Severance Plan, if during the Post-Protection Period a covered employee’s employment is terminated by the
Company or one of its subsidiaries without cause (as defined in the Severance Plan) or by the employee for
good reason (as defined in the Severance Plan), the Company shall pay to the employee a lump sum
severance payment equal to 12 times the employee’s then current monthly salary (or, if greater, the
employee’s monthly salary at the time of the change of control or, if applicable, the occurrence of the event
giving rise to the employee’s right to terminate his employment for good reason), and to maintain for
12 months health insurance for the benefit of the employee and his family as in effect prior to the termination
of his employment. Messrs. Steadman and Slater are parties to an agreement with the Company pursuant to
which they are entitled to the benefits of the Severance Plan.

Severance Agreement

In connection with Mr. Segraves’ resignation on Qctober 2, 2001, Mr. Segraves and the Company entered
into an agreement pursuant to which (i) Mr. Segraves was paid $564,735, (ii) the Company agreed to
maintain for one year from the date of Mr. Segraves’ resignation health insurance for the benefit of
Mr. Segraves and his family as in effect prior to Mr. Segraves’ resignation, and (iii) all unvested options
granted to Mr. Segraves under the 1994 Incentive Plan were vested.

Indemmity Agreements

The Company has entered into indemnity agreements with each of its directors and executive officers.
Those agreements require the Company, to the extent permitted under applicable law, to indemnify such
persons against all expenses, judgments, fines and penalties incurred in connection with the defense or
settlement of any actions brought against them by reason of the fact that they are or were directors or
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executive officers of the Company or assumed certain responsibilities at the direction of the Company. Each
indemnification agreement also provides that, upon a potential change in control of the Company and if the
indemnified director or executive officer so requests, the Company will create a trust for the benefit of the
indemnified director or executive officer in an amount sufficient to satisfy payment of any liabilities and suits
against which the Company has indemnified the director or executive officer. The Company expects to enter
into similar agreements with persons selected to be directors and executive officers in the future.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTECIPATION

John R. Kennedy, Raymond E. Cartledge and Thomas F. McWilliams served as members of the
Compensation Committee during 2001. None of such persons are officers or employees or former officers or
employees of the Company, except for Mr. McWilliams who served as Vice President of the Company from
July 1993 until September 1994, During the period that Mr. McWilliams served as Vice President of the
Company, he did not receive any compensation from the Company for his service as an officer.

None of the executive officers of the Company served as a member of the compensation committee or
board of directors of any other company during 2001.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Strategy and Objectives

The Company’s executive compensation program is administered by the Compensation Committee,
which is comprised entirely of non-employee Directors. The Compensation Committee determines any annual
increase in the base salary of the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”), the annual bonus to be paid to the CEQ,
and, based on recommendations of the CEQ, the compensation to be provided to the other executive officers.
The Compensation Committee also administers the 1994 Incentive Plan pursuant to which equity incentives
are provided to employees at the discretion of the Compensation Committee and determines individuals
eligible to participate in the 1997 Executive Deferred Compensation Stock Cption Plan described below.

In determining compensation levels and developing compensation programs for the Company’s executive
officers, the Compensation Committee analyzes the relationship between base salary, annual cash incentives,
equity incentives and benefits. The underlying objectives of the Company’s compensation strategy include the
following:

o Attract and retain superior executive talent, and motivate those executives to achieve optimum short-
term and long-term corporate operating results;

» Align the interests of executive officers with the creation of stockholder value and ensure long-term
growth orientation through equity-based plans; and

> Provide a compensation package that recognizes individual contributions as well as overall business
results.

Components of Compensation

The key elements of the Company’s executive compensation program are base salary, annual cash
bonuses and equity incentive compensation. These elements are addressed separately.

The Compensation Committee does not exclusively use quantitative methods or mathematical formulas
in setting any element of compensation. In determining each component of compensation, the Compensation
Committee considers all elements of an executive’s total compensation package, recommendations of the
CEOQ and other objective and subjective criteria the Compensation Committee deems appropriate with respect
to each executive officer.

Base Salaries. The base salary of each of the executive officers, other than the CEQ, is reviewed
annually, with adjustments made based primarily on the recommendations of the CEC. In reviewing base
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salaries the CEQO considers various factors, including the performance of the executive officer with respect to
specific objectives and increases in responsibilities. The specific objectives for each executive officer are
established by such officer after consultation with the CEQ, and vary for each executive position and for each
year. In addition, in the first quarter of each vear, the Board of Directors approves the Company’s business
plan developed by management for the current year. The business plan establishes objectives for the current
year with respect to areas such as marketing, operations, capital expenditures and financial performance. In
reviewing annual base salaries, the CEQ and the Compensation Committee also consider each executive
officer’s responsibilities related to achieving the objectives in the business plan and, in an effort to provide
competitive compensation, from time to time reviews salaries of similarly situated employees in comparable
companies.

The financial performance of the Company, primarily operating income, EBITDA (earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) and net income, also is considered in determining annual
adjustments to base salaries, but more emphasis is placed on divisional financial performance in determining
annual cash bonuses rather than base salaries. When the CEQC completes his reviews, he makes a
recommendation to the Compensation Committee for its review and approval.

Annual Cash Bonuses. Annual cash bonuses to executive officers, other than the CEQ, are determined
by the Compensation Committee after considering the recommendations of the CEQ. The CEO in developing
his bonus recommendations for the other executive officers, as well as the Compensation Committee in
evaluating the CEQ’s recommendations, consider primarily the financial performance of the Company, the
performance of the division at which an executive officer is employed and whether such division attained or
exceeded the objectives set forth in the Company’s annual business plan, and the performance of the
Company and the executive’s division in relation to industry conditions and performance of comparable
companies. The CEO and the Compensation Committee also consider individual performance which
contributed to the Company’s financial performance or otherwise assisted the Company’s efforts to achieve the
objectives set forth in its business plan. Failure of the Company or an executive’s division to attain or exceed
the objectives in the business plan does not, however, necessarily prevent any cash bonus from being paid,
although it may affect the size of cash bonuses paid. No specific weighting was assigned to any of the factors
considered in determining annual adjustments to base salaries and cash bonuses for the executive officers.

Certain executive officers may elect to defer all or a portion of their annual cash bonus and receive, in lieu
thereof, stock options under the Company’s 1997 Executive Deferred Compensation Stock Option Plan as
described below under “Equity Incentive Compensation.” .

Eguiry Incentive Compensation. The Compensation Committee endorses the view that equity owner-
ship by management is beneficial in aligning management’s and stockholders’ interests in the enhancement of
stockholder value. The equity-based compensation plans described below facilitate equity ownership by
management.

1994 Incentive Plan. Through the 1994 Incentive Plan, the Company has utilized stock options (and
has the ability to utilize stock appreciation rights and restricted stock) as components of executive
compensation to ensure external competitiveness of the total executive compensation package, motivate
executives to improve long-term stock performance, encourage equity ownership of the Company by executive
officers and align executive interests with the enhancement of stockholder value.

In granting stock options or other stock-based compensation under the 1994 Incentive Plan, the
Compensation Committee considers the total number of shares available for future grants under the 1994
Incentive Plan, prior grants outstanding and estimated requirements for future grants. Individual awards, with
the exception of grants to the CEC, generally are proposed to the Compensation Committee by the CEQ. The
Compensation Committee then discusses with the CEQ his proposals and recommendations and determines
individual awards, taking into consideration the CEO’s recommendations, each participant’s position and
scope of responsibilities, the strategic and operational goals of the Company, the expected future performance
of each participant to achieve these goals and unvested options, if any, held by each participant. Awards
granted to the CEQ are determined separately by the Compensation Committee based on the same criteria as
grants to other employees, as well as the Compensation Committee’s perception of the CEQ’s expected future
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contributions to the Company’s achievement of its long-term performance goals. The Compensation
Committee historically has elected to grant more options in one lump sum, rather than grant a smaller number
on an annual basis, to create an immediately meaningful incentive to enhance stockholder value in the
Company at the time of grant.

The exercise price for awards granted under the 1994 Incentive Plan, the term of such awards, the vesting
of such awards and the other terms and conditions of such awards are determined by the Compensation
Committee, in its discretion. All stock options previously granted to executive officers under the 1994
Incentive Plan have an exercise price equal to the market price on the date of grant and vest in 20%
increments over five years from the date of grant. Stock options granted under the 1994 Incentive Plan must
expire not more than ten years from their date of grant.

Executive Stock Option Plan. In 1997, the stockholders of the Company adopted the 1997 Executive
Deferred Compensation Stock Option Plan (the “Executive Stock Option Plan™), which provides for the
granting of stock options to eligible executive employees of the Company and its subsidiaries, at the
employee’s election, in lieu of all or a portion of such employee’s annual cash bonus. Under the Executive
Stock Option Plan, grants of stock options are made only to those executive officers and key management
personnel of the Company and its subsidiaries as the Compensation Committee from time to time may
designate. The Compensation Committee designated Martin V. Alonzo and John H. Steadman as eligible to
participate in the Executive Stock Option Plan for 2001, and John H. Steadman is eligible to participate in the
Executive Stock Option Plan for 2002. See “Compensation of Executive Officers” above. Messrs. Alonzo and
Steadman elected to participate in the Executive Stock Cption Plan for 2001.

Compensation of the CEQ

Mr. Steadman received a salary increase effective upon his becoming CEO in September 2001. The
Compensation Committee based the increase upon its review of Mr. Steadman’s existing compensation
arrangements, compensation of CEOs of companies comparable to the Company and the performance of
Mr. Steadman. Mr. Steadman’s employment agreement provides that Mr. Steadman’s base salary will be
reviewed annually and may be increased at the discretion of the Compensation Committee. The Compensa-
tion Committee anticipates that any future increase in the CEQ’s base salary will be based on the
Compensation Committee’s assessment of the CEQ’s performance and its expectations as to his future
contributions to the Company and salaries provided by comparable companies.

Under the terms of his employment agreement, Mr. Steadman is eligible for cash bonuses at the
discretion of the Compensation Committee. Mr. Steadman received a cash bonus of $140,000. In determining
Mr. Steadman’s cash bonus, the Compensation Committee considered the financial performance of the
Company and the Company’s efforts to achieve its strategic objectives in its business plan.

Policy with Respect to $1 Million Deduction Limit

The Company’s executive compensation strategy is to be cost and tax effective. Therefore, the Company’s
policy is to avail itself of all proper deductions under the Internal Revenue Code, where practical, while
maintaining the flexibility to approve compensation arrangements which it deems to be in the best interests of
the Company and its stockholders, but which may not always qualify for full tax deductibility. Section 162(m)
of the Internal Revenue Code generally imposes ‘a $1 million per person annual limit on the amount the
Company may deduct as compensation expense for its CEQ and its four other highest paid officers. Although
the total compensation of the executive officers did not exceed this deduction limitation in 2001, certain
factors involved in the Company’s compensation program may impact on whether the deduction limitation is
exceeded in the future. The 1994 Incentive Plan is intended to permit compensation associated with stock
options and stock appreciation rights to be excluded from the deduction limitations, but certain payments
under the 1994 Incentive Plan, including grants of restricted stock, may be included as compensation for
purposes of calculating the deduction limitation, potentially impacting the deduction limitation. In addition,
under current Internal Revenue Service regulations, income attributable to options (and stock appreciation
rights) granted under the Executive Stock Option Plan may not qualify for an exemption from the $1 million
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annual limit on deductible compensation imposed by Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. To the
extent the total non-exempt compensation paid (or deemed paid) by the Company to such an officer for a year
exceeds $1 million, such excess is not deductible by the Company if the officer is employed by the Company
as of the end of that year.

As the Company moves forward in its efforts to create stockholder value in the years ahead, the
Compensation Committee will continue to review, monitor and evaluate the Company’s program for executive
compensation to assure that it is internally effective in support of the Company’s strategy, competitive in the
marketplace to attract, retain and motivate the talent needed to achieve the Company’s financial objectives,
and appropriately rewards the creation of value on behalf of the Company’s stockholders.

This report has been provided by the Compensation Committee, which consists of the following
members:

John R. Kennedy, Chairman
Raymond E. Cartledge
Thomas F. McWilliams
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

Set forth below is a graph comparing the total stockholder return on the Company’s Common Stock, the
Standard & Poor’s 500 Composite Index, the Russell 2000 Index, the Dow Jones Industrials Index, and a
group of the Company’s current peers. The peer group consists of Brush Wellman, Inc., Mueller Industries,
Inc., Olin Corporation and Wolverine Tube, Inc. The graph illustrates total stockholder return for each of the
five fiscal years ended December 31, 2001, of $100 invested at December 31, 1996, and assumes reinvestment
of all dividends. The return of each company in the peer group has been weighted according to its respective
market capitalization and information regarding the Company’s share prices has been adjusted to give effect to
the three-for-two stock split effective June 6, 1998 (the “Stock Split™).

TOTAL RETURN INDEX
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Company Name Dec-96 Dec-97 Dec-98 Dec-99  Dec-00 Dec-01
CHASE INDUSTRIESINC ............... 100.00  128.30 78.77 61.32 78.717 69.06
S&P 500 COMP-LTD .................... 100.00 133.35 171.46 207.53 188.64 166.24
RUSSELL2000.......................... 100.00 12236 119.30 144.87 14049 144.08
DOW JONES INDUSTRIALS-30 STK ... .. 100.00 12491 147.60 187.83 179.09 169.39
PEER GROUPINDEX ................... 100.00  132.90 87.23 11528 109.10 103.53

56




Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

To the Company’s knowledge, set forth below is certain information, as of March 21, 2002, regarding

ownership of Common Stock by (i) each person who beneficially owns 5% or more of the Common Stock,
(ii) each director and Named Executive Officer of the Company and (iii) all directors and executive officers
of the Company as a group. To the Company’s knowledge, each person holds sole voting and investment power

over

*

(1)
(2)

(3)

the shares shown unless otherwise indicated.
Amount and Percent of
. . Nature of Commeon
Name Ownership Stock(1)
Citigroup Inc. .. ot 7,291,945(2) 47.7%

399 Park Avenue
New York, New York 1004

Martin V. AlONZO .. oot e e 1,643,045(3) 10.7%
¢/o Chase Industries Inc.

14212 County Road M-50

Montpelier, Ohio 43543

FMR Comp. o oo it 916,700(4) 5.9%
82 Devonshire Street
Boston, Massachusetts 02109

Michael T. Segraves . ..ot e 80,750 *
John H. Steadman ... ... ... .o i 39,785(5) *
Thomas F. McWilliams .. ... .. i i 26,720(6) *
Todd A. Slater ... 20,950(7) *
John R. Kennedy . ... . i i i e 30,608 (8) *
Raymond E. Cartledge . ............oo i 26,997(9) *
Charles E. Corpening . ......covniintrn et iniinens 24,665(10) *
William R. Toller .. ... e 14,025(11) *
Robert D. Kennedy. . ..... ...t 11,928(12) *
All directors and executive officers as a group (10 persons) .......... 1,919,473(13) 12.5%

Less than one percent.
Based on 15,298,045 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of March 21, 2002.

Based on information set forth in Amendment No. 1 to Schedule 13D, dated September 20, 2001 (the
“Citigroup Schedule 13D”), filed with the SEC by Citigroup, Inc., Citigroup Holdings Company,
Citicorp, Citicorp Banking Corporation, CSCL and Chase Acquisition Corporation (“CAC”). The
Citigroup Schedule 13D reflects that each of Citigroup Holdings Company, Citicorp, Citicorp Banking
Corporation and CSCL has shared voting power and shared dispositive power for 7,289,945 shares of
Common Stock and that Citigroup Inc. has shared voting power and shared dispositive power for
7,291,945 shares of Common Stock.

Excludes 37,500 shares of Common Stock held by Mr. Alonzo’s wife, as to which Mr. Alonzo disclaims
beneficial ownership. Includes 450,000 shares subject to stock options granted under the 1994 Incentive
Plan, 115,154 shares subject to stock options granted under the Executive Stock Option Plan and 1,322
shares subject to stock options granted under the Director Stock Option Plan, all of which currently are
exercisable.
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(4) Based on information set forth in Amendment No. 4 to Schedule 13G dated February 14, 2002 (the
“Fidelity Schedule 13G”), filed with the SEC by FMR Corp., Edward C. Johuson 3d, and Abigail P.
Johnson. The Fidelity Schedule 13G reflects that (i) Fidelity Management & Research Company
(“Fidelity”), a wholly owned subsidiary of FMR Corp. (“FMR”), is the beneficial owner of 916,700
shares of Common Stock as a result of acting as investment advisor to the Fidelity Low-Priced Stock
Fund (the “LP Fund™), an investment company registered under Section 8 of the Investment Company
Act of 1940, (ii) the LP Fund holds all 916,700 shares of the Common Stock reported, (iii) Edward C.
Johnson 3d, FMR (through its control of Fidelity), and the LP Fund each has sole power to dispose of
the 916,700 shares owned by the LP Fund, and (iv) sole voting power of the shares reported resides with
the LP Fund’s board of trustees. Fidelity carries out the voting of the shares under written guidelines
established by the LP Fund’s boards of trustees.

(5) Consists solely of 1,000 shares owned in joint tenancy with Mr. Steadman’s wife, 20,000 shares subject
to stock options granted under the 1994 Incentive Plan and 18,785 shares subject to stock options
granted under the Executive Stock Option Plan, all of which currently are exercisable.

(6) Consists solely of 19,220 shares subject to stock options granted under the Director Stock Option Plan
and 7,500 shares subject to stock options granted under the 1994 Incentive Plan, all of which currently
are exercisable. Excludes 223,045 shares of Common Stock held by a trust in which shares
Mr. McWilliams has an indirect pecuniary interest but not a beneficial ownership interest under
Rule 13d-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

(7) Includes 20,200 shares subject to stock options granted under the 1994 Incentive Plan, all of which
currently are exercisable.

(8) Includes 21,608 shares subject to stock options granted under the Director Stock Option Plan and 7,500
shares subject to stock options granted under the 1994 Incentive Plan, all of which currently are
exercisable.

(9) Includes 11,497 shares subject to stock options granted under the Director Stock Option Plan and 7,500
shares subject to stock options granted under the 1994 Incentive Plan, all of which currently are
exercisable.

(10) Consists solely of 17,165 shares subject to stock options granted under the Director Stock Option Plan
and 7,500 shares subject to stock options granted under the 1994 Incentive Plan, all of which currently
are exercisable.

(11) Consists solely of 6,525 shares subject to stock options granted under the Director Stock Option Plan
and 7,500 shares subject to stock options granted under the 1994 Incentive Plan, all of which currently
are exercisable.

(12) Includes 8,928 shares subject to stock options granted under the Director Stock Option Plan that
currently are exercisable.

(13) Includes 827,904 shares subject to stock options that currently are exercisable or that are exercisable
within 60 days of the Record Date.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The Company and each of CVC and Mr. Alonzo are parties to a Registration Rights Agreement (the
“Registration Rights Agreement™) pursuant to which each of CVC and Mr. Alonzo are entitled to require the
Company to file a registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act™) covering the sale
of some or all of the shares of Common Stock held by CVC and Mr. Alonzo, subject to certain conditions.
Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, the Company may be required to file on behalf of each of
CSCL (as assignee of CVC) and Mr. Alonzo an unlimited number of registration statements on Form S-2 or
Form S-3 under the Securities Act, when available. At any time that the Company is not eligible to use a
Form S-2 or Form S-3 registration statement, CSCL (as assignee of CVC) and Mr. Alonzo also may require
the Company to file a registration statement on their behalf on an appropriate registration form, provided that
the Company will not be required to effect more than two such registrations on behalf of CSCL (as assignee
of CVC) or one such registration on behalf of Mr. Alonzo during the term of the Registration Rights
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Agreement. All such demand registrations require that the registration statement relate to a minimum of, in
the case of CSCL (as assignee of CVC), 5% of the outstanding Common Stock or, in the case of Mr. Alonzo,
2% of the outstanding Common Stock. In addition, in the event the Company proposes to register any of its
shares of Common Stock under the Securities Act, CSCL (as assignee of CVC) and Mr. Alonzo will be
entitled to require the Company to include all or a portion of their shares in such registration, subject to
certain conditions. Each demand registration pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement must be at least
180 days apart.

Generally, all fees, costs and expenses of any registration under the Registration Rights Agreement will
be borne by the Company, provided that CSCL (as assignee of CVC) and Mr. Alonzo will be required to bear
their respective pro rata share of underwriting discounts and commissions. CSCL (as assignee of CVC) and
Mr. Alonzo may assign their respective rights under the Registration Rights Agreement to persons to whom
they transfer or otherwise assign shares of the Common Stock that they hold, provided that the shares
transferred or assigned to that person represent five percent or more of the outstanding Common Stock on a
fully-diluted basis at the time of transfer.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Based solely on a review of the copies of Forms 3, 4, and 5 required to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), and written representations from the Company’s executive officers and directors, the
Company believes that all persons who were subject to Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act during 2001
complied with the filing requirements thereof other than Mr. Slater who had one late filing. Mr. Slater
inadvertently filed his Form 3 late, reflecting that he had become an executive officer of the Company.
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PART IV
Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statements, Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

{a) 1. For a list of Financial Statements filed as part of this Annual Report, see “Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.”

2. Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule IT — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (page S-1)

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or not required or because the
required information is included in the financial statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits
Exhibits followed by an (*) constitute management contracts or compensatory plans or
arrangements.
Exhibit
Number Description
2.1 — Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2001, by and among Pinkert Industrial

Group, LLC and Leavitt Tube Company, Inc., and joined in by Dale R. Pinkert, Robert Pinkert,
and the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 16, 2001).

2.2 — Amendment No. 1 to Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2001, by and among
Pinkert Industrial Group, LLC and Leavitt Tube Company, Inc., and joined in by Dale R.
Pinkert, Robert Pinkert, and the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
April 16, 2001).

3.1 — Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1998), as
amended by the Certificate of First Amendment to the Company’s Restated Certificate of
Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated May 14, 1997, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 28,
1997) and Certificate of Second Amendment to the Company’s Restated Certificate of
Incorporation (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K dated May 26, 1998, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
June 1, 1998).

3.2 — Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Form 8-A dated January 5, 2001, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on January 5, 2001).

3.3 — By-Laws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.5 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated December 26, 2000, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on January 4, 2001).

4.1 — Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 3, 1994, Registration No. 33-83178).

42 — Exchange Agreement dated November 4, 1994, between the Company and Citicorp Venture
Capital Ltd. (‘CVC’) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 dated December 9, 1994, Registration No. 33-87278).

43 — Rights Agreement, dated as of December 28, 2000, between the Company and Mellon Investor
Services LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated January 4, 2001, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
January 4, 2001).

t10.1  — Credit Agreement by and among the Company, the banks referred to therein and PNC Bank,
National Association, as Agent, dated as of August 30, 1996.
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Exhibit
Number

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5*
10.6*
10.7*

10.8*

10.9*
10.10*

+10.11
$10.12

10.13

$10.14*
10.15

10.16

Description

First Amendment to Credit Agreement by and among the Company, the banks referred to
therein and PNC Bank, National Association, as Agent dated June 16, 1997 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1998).

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement by and among the Company, the banks referred to
therein and PNC Bank, National Association, as Agent dated September 8, 1999 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1999).

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement by and among the Company, the banks referred to
therein and PNC Bank, National Association, as Agent dated September 1, 2000 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2000).

Chase Industries Inc. 1994 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended as of May 14,‘ 1997
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 1998).

First Amendment to Chase Industries Inc. 1994 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended
May 14, 1997, effective as of November 19, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999).

Chase Industries Inc. 1997 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan, as amended May 26,
1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 1998).

First Amendment to Chase Industries Inc. 1997 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan as
amended May 26, 1998, effective as of November 19, 1999 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1999).

Chase Industries Inc. 1997 Executive Deferred Compensation Stock Option Plan (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1998).

First Amendment to Chase Industries Inc. 1997 Executive Deferred Compensation Stock
Option Plan, effective as of November 19, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999).

Indemnification Agreement dated November 10, 1994, between the Company and Mr. Alonzo.

Registration Rights Agreement dated November 10, 1994, by and among the Company, CVC
and Mr. Alonzo.

Asset Purchase Agreement dated May 10, 1990, as amended, by and among the Company, CBC
Acquisition Corporation (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company now named Chase Brass &
Copper Company, Inc. (*CBCC*), Chase Brass & Copper Company, Incorporated, a Delaware
corporation now named Ken-Chas Reserve Co. (‘Old Chase‘), BP Exploration (Alaska), Inc.
(‘BP‘) and The Standard Oil Company (‘Standard‘) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 3, 1994, Registration No. 33-83178).

Amended and Restated CBCC Benefit Restoration Plan effective as of September 1, 2001.

Participation Agreement dated as of December 23, 1997, among CBCC, as Lessee, ABN Amro
Bank N.V., as Lessor, ABN Amro Bank N.V. and Credit Agricole IndoSuez, as Participants,
and ABN Amro Bank N.V., as Agent, regarding lease of equipment at CBCC’s Montpelier,
Ohio, facility (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997).

Master Lease dated as of December 23, 1997, between ABN Amro Bank N.V., as Lessor, and
CBCC, as Lessee, regarding lease of equipment at CBCC’s Montpelier, Chio, facility
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 1997).
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Exhibit
Number Description )

10.17 — Lease Supplement No. 1 dated as of December 23, 1997, between ABN Amro Bank N.V., as
Lessor, and CBCC, as Lessee, supplementing the Master Lease filed herewith as Exhibit 10.16
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-X for
the year ended December 31, 1997).

10.18 — Lease Supplement No. 2 dated as of February 2, 1998, between ABN Amro Bank N.V., as
Lessor, and CBCC, as Lessee, supplementing the Master Lease filed herewith as Exhibit 10.16
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 1997).

10.19 — Appendix 1 (Definitions) to Participation Agreement filed herewith as Exhibit 10.15 and Master
Lease filed herewith as Exhibit 10.16 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997).

10.20 — Guarantee dated as of December 23, 1997, from the Company, as Obligor, to ABN Amro Bank
N.V., as Agent, guaranteeing obligations of CBCC under Participation Agreement filed herewith
as Exhibit 10.15 and Master Lease filed herewith as Exhibit 10.16 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1997).

10.21* — Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2001, between the
Company and John H. Steadman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 31, 2001).

10.22 — Change of Control Agreement, dated as of September 25, 2001, by and between the Company
and Todd A. Slater (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 31, 2001).

10.23 — Severance Pay Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2001, by and between the Company and
John H. Steadman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 31, 2001).

10.24 — Severance Pay Agreement, dated as of September 25, 2001, by and between the Company and
Todd A. Slater (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 31, 2001).

10.25 — Severance Agreement, dated as of September 26, 2001, by and between the Company and
Michael T. Seagraves (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 31, 2001).

10.26 — Schedule identifying additional documents substantially identical to the Indemnification
Agreement included as Exhibit 10.11 and setting forth the material details in which those
documents differ from that document (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999).

121 — List of Subsidiaries of the Company.
123 — Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
t Filed herewith
(b) Reports on Form 8-K
No Current Report on Form 8-K was filed by the Company during the fourth quarter of 2001.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CHASE INDUSTRIES INC.

By: /s/  JOHN H. STEADMAN

John H. Steadman
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: April 1, 2002

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

/s/  JOHN H. STEADMAN

John H. Steadman

/s/  TODD A. SLATER

Todd A. Slater

/s/  MARTIN V. ALONZO

Martin V. Alonzo

/s/ RAYMOND E. CARTLEDGE

Raymond E. Cartledge

/s/ CHARLES E. CORPENING

Charles E. Corpening

/s/  JOHN R. KENNEDY

John R. Kennedy

/s/  ROBERT D. KENNEDY

Robert D. Kennedy

/s/ THOMAS F. MCWILLIAMS

Thomas F. Mcwilliams

= /s/  WILLIAM R. TOLLER

William R. Toller

Title

President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director (Principal Executive Officer)

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial

Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Date

April 1, 2002

April 1, 2002

April 1, 2002

April 1, 2002

April 1, 2002

April 1, 2002

April 1, 2002

April 1, 2002

April 1, 2002



CHASE INDUSTRIES INC.

Schedule [T — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
(in thousands)

Balance at Additions Charged to Balance at
Beginning Cost and Other End
of Period Expenses Accounts Deductions of Period
Year Ended December 31, 2001
Allowance for doubtful accounts and claims $990 $ 50 $ — $124 $916
Year Ended December 31, 2000
Allowance for doubtful accounts and claims $990 $ — $ — $ — $990
Year Ended December 31, 1999
Allowance for doubtful accounts and claims $965 $ 60 $ — $ 35 $990
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M anagement T e am

Seated (left to right)
James K. Palmour
Vice President Sales & Marketing

Todd A. Slater
Vice President & CFO

Standing (left to right)
Daniel L. Goehler

Vice President Manufacturing

John R. Bagnall

Director Information Technology
Kathryn S. McKelvey
Human Resources Manager
John H. Steadman
President and CEQ

John D, Witzerman
Environmental Manager

Michael F. Mclnerney

Metal Procurement Manager

S hareholder I n formation

Corporate Offices and Form 10-K Available

Manufacturing Plant The Form 10K Report, which includes financial data that
PO. Box 152 supplements the material included in the annual report, is
14212 County Road M-50
Montpelier, OH 43543

[419) 485-3193 Fax: (419) 485-8150

being provided to shareholders.

Common Stock Listing
Ticker Symbol: CSI

Distribution Center New York Stock Exchange

6500 East Washington Boulevard
los Angeles, CA 90040
(323) 7267799

investor Relations Contact

Market for Common Stock

For the periods shown, the high and low sales prices for the Common
Stock as reported by the NYSE follow. No cash dividends were paid or
declared with respect to such periods.

William G. Schmidle 2001 2000 1999

FRB | Weber Shandwick Quarter High Low High Low High Low
(312) 6406753

Ql $11.80 $9.80 $10.31 $775 $11.06 $ 763
Stock Transfer Agent and Registrar Q2 .40 890 975 8.25 .56 738
Mellon Investor Services LIC Q3 9.80 8.80 1081 813 025 8.00
Overpeck Centre Q4 929 825 1050 6.38 913 788

85 Challenger Road
Ridgefield Park, N} 07660
(800) 8519677

The Company’s Common Stock was held of record by
approximately 121 holders on March 21, 2002.

Please contact transfer agent af the above address
if you are submiting documents requesting a transfer,
an address change, an account consolidation or for

other stock account matters. Web Sites

www.chaseindustriesinc.com
independent Accountants

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Detroit, M| 48243

www.chasebrass.com

Report designed by Stephenson + Taylor, Inc., Toledo, Ohio
© Copyright 2002 by Chase Industries Inc. Al rights reserved.
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